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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Good Morning.

          3  Welcome to the Governmental Operations Committee.

          4  We are going to be having a hearing this morning on

          5  Intro Number 564A, a measure to amend administrative

          6  code of the City of New York with respect to

          7  campaign contributions by labor organizations,

          8  unions, and their political committees under the

          9  Campaign Finance Law.  For those of you who are

         10  interested in testifying, please make sure you see

         11  the Sergeant- at- Arms so that you can sign up, if

         12  you have not done so already.

         13                 Last month, the Campaign Finance

         14  Board instituted Rule Number 1- 04(h)(2), a measure

         15  creating a rebuttable presumption that affiliated

         16  unions, constitute a single source for the purpose

         17  of compliance with contribution limits.  The board

         18  states that the purpose of this rule is to prevent

         19  single sources from making contributions that are

         20  over the limit ostensibly by masquerading as

         21  multiple sources.  That certainly is a laudable

         22  goal.  However, the problem with the rule, is that

         23  it is unduly burdensome on campaigns.  Under board

         24  rules, campaigns would be responsible for assuring

         25  that contributions from different labor
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          2  organizations do not actually emanate from a single

          3  source.  Under the rule, some of the factors that

          4  campaigns will have to consider in making such

          5  determinations include, but mind you, are not

          6  limited to the following:

          7                 One, whether any of the given labor

          8  organization makes decisions or establishes policies

          9  for any of the others.

         10                 Two, whether any of the labor

         11  organizations has the authority to hire, appoint,

         12  discipline, demote, remove, or influence persons who

         13  make decisions, or establish policy for another

         14  labor organization.

         15                 Three, whether contributions by one

         16  labor organization reflect a "similar pattern", as

         17  contributions from other labor organizations.

         18                 Four, whether a labor organization

         19   "knows of and has acquest in public representations

         20  by another labor organization, that it is acting on

         21  its behalf or under its direction".

         22                 That is quite a mouthful.  Imagine

         23  what this will mean on the ground.  Under the

         24  board's rules, the do diligence required by campaign

         25  contributions originating for labor organizations
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          2  will be so burdensome, that it will have a killing

          3  effect on the willingness of campaigns to accept

          4  such contributions.  Unions will lose their right to

          5  express what the United States Supreme Court

          6  correctly identified in Buckley versus Vallejo as

          7   "political speech".

          8                 Unions, labor organizations will lose

          9  their right to express their general support of

         10  specific candidates.  Once that happens, the

         11  democratic process in New York City will be

         12  diminished.  It will be hampered.  It will become

         13  more exclusive than it already is.  That is all

         14  contrary to the aims of a civil society and the

         15  opposite of the very purpose behind this council's

         16  enactment of the Campaign Finance Law.

         17                 Into Number 564- A is a bill that is

         18  designed to accomplish the proper goal of preventing

         19  single source contributors from circumventing or

         20  violating the contribution limits.  However, the

         21  real strength of this bill, the reason why we need

         22  it, is that it manages to accomplish this goal

         23  without restricting the rights of labor

         24  organizations to be heard.  The bill does away with

         25  the erroneous presumption that all affiliated
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          2  unions, constitute a single source.  Instead, the

          3  bill puts in place a set of rational criteria that

          4  will make certain that only good faith, legitimate

          5  contributions, qualify for the Campaign Finance

          6  Program.

          7                 The great labor leader, Sacha Chavez,

          8  once said, "Society is made up of groups, and as

          9  long as the smaller groups do not have the same

         10  rights and the same protection as others, it is not

         11  going to work.  Somehow the guys in power have to be

         12  reached by counter power, or through a change in

         13  their hearts and minds, or change will not come."

         14                 I agree with that, and I believe this

         15  is what is at stake here.  The right of working men

         16  and women to express themselves collectively in a

         17  show of counter power.  The right to express

         18  themselves in a form of political speech, and not

         19  just that, the opportunity, the opportunity for all

         20  of those who are in power, to have their hearts and

         21  minds changed by what is often the forgotten class

         22  of people, laborers, by what they have learned from

         23  all their hard work.  This is what we are talking

         24  about.  This is what we must protect.  And this is

         25  what Intro 564- A is all about.
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          2                 Before we continue, I would like to

          3  acknowledge the other members of the committee who

          4  are here today.  First I would like to acknowledge

          5  Council Member and Committee Member Leroy Comrie,

          6  one of the original sponsors of the bill, Council

          7  Member Bill DeBlasio, who introduced the bill.  I

          8  know that Council Member Michael Nelson will not be

          9  here with us today.  He called in ill. Council

         10  Member Peter Vallone also is excused due to the fact

         11  that he has another hearing taking place at the same

         12  time on public safety.  Other members of the

         13  committee will be coming in and out as they attempt

         14  to address, not only the needs of this committee,

         15  but also the other committees on which they serve.

         16  I would like to acknowledge our policy analyst,

         17  Sandy Dillon and Daniel Serrano, the Counsel to the

         18  Committee.

         19                 At this point, I would like to call

         20  on our first witnesses, who represent the Campaign

         21  Finance Board.  Please come forward to be sworn in,

         22  and after you are sworn in, please state your name

         23  and the agency that you are representing before you

         24  begin your testimony.

         25                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Good
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          2  morning, do you swear or affirm that the testimony

          3  that you are about to give this committee will be

          4  the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the

          5  truth?

          6                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes, I do.

          7                 MS. GORDON: Yes.

          8                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Very good.

          9  Identify yourselves please before you give your

         10  testimony.

         11                 MR. SCHWARZ: I am Fritz Schwarz, the

         12  Chair of the Campaign Finance Board and Nicole

         13  Gordon, the Executive Director is with me.  And Mr.

         14  Chairman, that was an eloquent series of comments

         15  you made.  I am going to abandon my written

         16  testimony, which you have, and which has attached to

         17  it, the board's rule and the explanation for that

         18  rule, and actually use your comments as a means for

         19  making the things that I think are most important to

         20  say.

         21                 So, you started by saying correctly,

         22  that this is a rebuttable presumption, and you

         23  actually stressed the word rebuttable.  And that is

         24  important in its -- a lot of people in thinking

         25  about this rule, saw the word presumption and said,
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          2  well, that is conclusive.  It is not, it is

          3  rebuttable.  And I think one important point of

          4  context is that in thinking about this rule, we

          5  looked at what the Federal Government has done, and

          6  actually in the, under Federal Law, the FEC, Federal

          7  Elections Commission, came down with a rule that in

          8  the circumstances covered by the board's rule, makes

          9  an absolute presumption, so that it is conclusive.

         10  So under Federal Law, the rules are conclusive that

         11  a parent union and its children, or two sisters and

         12  two brothers, cannot make contributions without

         13  their being aggregated.  So I think that is an

         14  important part of the context here.  We chose,

         15  because we heard the testimony that was given in our

         16  hearings, and we applied our minds to the subject,

         17  we chose to continue the board's past practice, and

         18  not to impose a conclusive presumption.

         19                 The second thing in your comments

         20  that I want to use as a trigger for my own comments,

         21  which are entirely off the cuff, you see, because I

         22  am not using my written testimony at all, which I

         23  imagine you appreciate, is you referred to what the

         24  board had done as a laudable goal.  I agree it is a

         25  laudable goal, but of course the question is, how is
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          2  it applied?

          3                 Then you went on to say that it will

          4  be unduly burdensome, and that the factors that the

          5  board has indicated are relevant, none of them being

          6  conclusive, I should add, but the factors the board

          7  has indicated are relevant, may be overly burdened

          8  some for candidates.  So as you expressed in your

          9  eloquent remarks, the board factors might end up

         10  being too broad.  Well, I think the principal flaw

         11  with the proposed bill, is that the factors in the

         12  bill are too narrow, and can give rise to the very

         13  concern, which we all share, which take this away

         14  from the particular context of unions or other

         15  entities, and just think about the principal

         16  underlying the Campaign Finance Act.  It is that the

         17  purpose of the Act, is to level the playing field,

         18  and it is to deprive powerful interests, whether

         19  they are big money or big organizations, with

         20  influence that is undue, as compared to the ordinary

         21  voter's influence.

         22                 Now that is another point I want to

         23  make that, you know, you referred to, to Buckley

         24  against Vallejo, important case. It was wrong on the

         25  issues of Campaign Finance and the recent case and
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          2  the legislation from the Congress, sort of overcame

          3  Buckley against Vallejo, but the comments about the

          4  rights of laboring people to participate in

          5  elections, are of course, timeless and totally

          6  valid.  And that is another point to make about this

          7  rule. It does not in any way, affect the ability of

          8  individuals, of individual union members, to

          9  participate in the political process. Indeed the

         10  purpose of the four to one match, as you well know,

         11  is to enhance the influence of small contributors.

         12  Or to put it in this context, to enhance the

         13  influence of working men and women.

         14                 Now I want to focus on the factors

         15  that are in the proposed bill and which are, I

         16  believe, fair to say, much too narrow, as you have

         17  said the board's factors are too broad.  They fall

         18  into two categories.  There are four factors and

         19  they fall into two categories.  And the authors of

         20  the legislation, or the prime authors are here, so I

         21  am saying something that I know they know.

         22                 But the first category has to do with

         23  the mechanics of bank accounts.  And it says the

         24  factors which would cause a contribution from one

         25  union to be aggregated with another union, or the
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          2  factors that would conclusively rebut that, would be

          3  whether they are, the contributions are made from

          4  different accounts, and whether the separate

          5  accounts have different signatories.  That is a

          6  purely mechanical standard which, if you can imagine

          7  a situation, and I think we have to for the purpose

          8  of this discussion, where a, I will call it parent

          9  union, dominates the children unions.  That does

         10  happen and I think we will all agree with that.  It

         11  is the easiest thing in the world to comply with the

         12  separate bank account with different signatory's

         13  rule, because that is purely a mechanical thing that

         14  can be readily and easily done.  And when I say we

         15  all have to agree that does happen, I saw one of the

         16  council people sort of shook his head, and I am not

         17  by that saying, that it always happens, but we have

         18  to agree it can happen, and that it does happen.  So

         19  the first two standards are so formalistic that I

         20  think they make it too easy for two unions that are

         21  really commonly controlled to appear in this

         22  formalistic way, not to be.

         23                 The second two categories are clearly

         24  relevant to the issue of whether the, in my

         25  hypothetical the parent union and controls the
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          2  children unions, and they are the entities do not

          3  share a majority of members of their governing

          4  boards, and the entities do not share a majority of

          5  officers of their governing boards.  Certainly, if

          6  they did so, it would be a factor tending to support

          7  the conclusion that there should be aggregation.

          8  But the fact that they do not, the two unions do not

          9  share a majority of members of their governing

         10  boards or a majority of officers, does not remove

         11  the situation where the one union is in fact,

         12  controlling through the constitution, for example.

         13  There are union constitutions that bear on the

         14  question of whether a junior union has to do what

         15  the senior union says they should do.  So while

         16  those two are relevant, I think they are so clearly

         17  not sufficient to address the question.

         18                 Now, you know, how this would be

         19  administered, the current rule would be

         20  administered, I think is a question which you

         21  eloquently in your opening statements said you are

         22  worried about, that it would create undue burden on

         23  the candidate to find the answers to the questions

         24  of control.  Well, I think maybe yes, maybe no.  The

         25  maybe yes, is if a candidate had to become a
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          2  political scientist and go through an extensive

          3  study of the power of the parent union.  You know,

          4  that is in the middle of a campaign, probably unfair

          5  to the candidate.  But, if while the candidate has

          6  to do, is to come forward with plausible evidence

          7  that the parent union is not under the circumstances

          8  able to control what the child union does, then

          9  while that would not necessarily just end matters,

         10  that would substantially address the question.  So I

         11  think the board did a favor to candidates by listing

         12  all those factors which you made some fun of some of

         13  them as being complicated.  But I think what the

         14  board was trying to do there, was to say there are a

         15  number of ways in which the candidate or the union

         16  responding on behalf of the candidate, could address

         17  the ultimate question.

         18                 So I do believe that, well first,

         19  this rule is not so radical.  It grows out of what

         20  the board did with corporations. It applies to other

         21  entities as well, you know, the partnerships, for

         22  example.  And it is a long standing part of the

         23  board's practice.

         24                 So, Mr. Chairman, what I have tried

         25  to do there is not to depart from my written
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          2  testimony which you have, but to try to address the

          3  concerns which you expressed in your opening

          4  statement.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          6  much. Especially for not reading your testimony, and

          7  for the constant reminder of the eloquence of the

          8  opening statement.  That is, flattery always helps,

          9  especially since today is my birthday.  So, thank

         10  you for the flattery.

         11                 I want to acknowledge Councilwoman

         12  Madeline Provenzano.

         13                 MR. SCHWARZ: Tomorrow is mine so

         14  looking at you, probably we are twins, right?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Oh boy, two

         16  Aries in front of each other.  It is like two rams.

         17                 In any case, let me first, you know,

         18  establish that this committee and this council is an

         19  orthodox supporter, I would dare say, of the

         20  Campaign Finance Program.  And we have done as much

         21  as we could to try to make it represent the best of

         22  all intentions of this program, and I think we have

         23  worked as closely as possible from day one, and

         24  especially during the course of my chairmanship of

         25  this committee, to try to be as responsive and as
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          2  responsible to what would make this work, especially

          3  on behalf of the people of the City of New York,

          4  which ultimately this is about, even though we are

          5  talking about different entities, that more or less

          6  interact with it.

          7                 One of the concerns that has

          8  constantly come up with regard to the program, from

          9  the perspective of candidates, is the awesome amount

         10  of paperwork and verification, the sort of trap, so

         11  to speak, that some describe that make it difficult

         12  for one to want to comply with the, to participate

         13  in the program.  And it tends to keep candidates

         14  focus, not on getting their message out or actually

         15  doing the job that they want to do on behalf of the

         16  people, but spending a lot of time at the Campaign

         17  Fiance Board, hiring political scientists, and other

         18  kinds of consultants to help them get through these

         19  processes, and this presumption seems to be just

         20  another example of that type of obstacle that the

         21  candidates will have to go through.  And I am

         22  wondering, A, like when does that presumption kick

         23  in?  At what point do you determine, oops, this

         24  looks like one of those instances where you have to

         25  provide some verification?  And number two, even
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          2  before number one is, what evidence has there been

          3  in the past, that suggested to you that there was a

          4  rampant or something of a problem, that required the

          5  kind of legislation, or the kind of rule that you

          6  put forth?  Have we been finding this parent child

          7  coercion, or problem between the unions and their

          8  locals, that this particular rule is attempting to

          9  overcome?  And if so, how many examples and you,

         10  know, what exactly triggered your interest in

         11  addressing this problem?

         12                 MR. SCHWARZ: In a minute I will turn

         13  to Ms. Gordon on the history.  But from my own point

         14  of view, you know, I was not sure where I wanted to

         15  come out on this rule, when we were debating it.

         16  And then I became convinced by a number of things,

         17  which included that this was consistent with the way

         18  in which we applied the rule to other kinds of

         19  entities, like corporations, that it was less rigid

         20  than the Federal rule, and that the basic approach

         21  of the rule made sense.  Now I think Nicole could

         22  better, than I, deal with instances in the past that

         23  may be more directly in the sense of New York City

         24  experience, relevant to your questions, Mr.

         25  Chairman.
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          2                 MS. GORDON: First, just to speak for

          3  a moment on the issue of the burden, it was the

          4  intent, and I think the reality that this rule would

          5  not increase burdens, but would rather reduce them

          6  in this respect.  When we have come across this

          7  issue in the past, and the question is posed to

          8  candidates about whether there is a relationship

          9  between the two entities that makes them a single

         10  source, they only had the benefit of a four more

         11  generalized factors that continue to be set forth at

         12  the beginning of the rule, and the thought was that

         13  to give them specific items that would make it

         14  easier for them to understand what would be relevant

         15  in trying to either overcome the presumption, or to

         16  decide simply either not to take a contribution from

         17  an affiliated organization that might bring them

         18  over the limit if it were aggregated, or to not take

         19  that portion that would bring them over the top of

         20  the contribution limit.  It was intended to ease

         21  that burden so that people would not be wandering

         22  through a wilderness not knowing what factors might

         23  apply.  And of course, one thing that is very

         24  important here is that the rule is not exclusive in

         25  the sense that it is essentially is inviting

                                                            20

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  candidates to say, oh you know, the board, you did

          3  not think of a factor that you think is relevant, we

          4  want to make sure that it is brought to your

          5  attention, because we think cuts in favor of a

          6  finding that these two organizations are not

          7  affiliated for purposes of the single source rule.

          8                 As to the history of this, I think it

          9  is important, maybe to understand that number one,

         10  these issues are almost entirely resolved in the

         11  audit process.  And what I mean by that is, what

         12  happens is that a question gets put to the candidate

         13  during the audit process that says you know, here is

         14  the name of a union, and here is a local that on the

         15  basis of their name, for example, it appeared to be

         16  affiliated, tell us if they are not. And at that

         17  point, what almost always happens is either a

         18  campaign decides to return the overage of what

         19  otherwise might be an over the limit contribution,

         20  or they present the staff with information that

         21  persuades the staff, that the two entities are not

         22  related, and should not be counted together.  And I

         23  would have to look into our records, but I am not

         24  sure there has ever been a case that actually went

         25  to the point that it required a writing, or a formal
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          2  decision.

          3                 The second thing to say about it,

          4  which is, I do not think it should be thought that

          5  there is some horrific record about limited

          6  liability companies, or unions, or the other

          7  entities that are covered by the rule, so much as

          8  that, the rule is intended to specify and prevent

          9  potential abuses.  We have seen definite cases, I am

         10  not saying that, that is not it.  But I do not know

         11  that it would be fair to the limited liability or

         12  union communities, to say oh my goodness, there has

         13  been some terrible abuse here, let us make sure that

         14  99 percent of the givers who are now trying to

         15  violate the law, do not do that.  There is not

         16  intended, and there is not any charge here that

         17  people have been evil, or bad, or any of those

         18  things.  It is simply a definition that helps the

         19  candidates and the board, to make sure that the

         20  contribution limit, which is one of the core

         21  purposes of the program, is honored by every kind of

         22  affiliation, whether it is a corporate or limited

         23  liability, or union, or even individuals.  Only one

         24  decision maker should only have the right to make

         25  one contribution, and that is the thing we are
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          2  trying to get at here.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You know, I

          4  guess you underscored my point, which is that there

          5  has not been a problem.

          6                 MS. GORDON: I did not say there had

          7  been a problem, I did not want to mis- characterize

          8  it, that is all.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: No, no, I know

         10  you did not want to but, in your response, there has

         11  been no rampant abuse of the rule, that you are

         12  trying to clarify and in fact, you have indicated

         13  that, where there has been abuse, or what appeared

         14  to be abuse, you were able to sort of nip it in the

         15  bud, to the extent that the candidate and/or the

         16  other entity had to explain it either as being

         17  appropriate, or if not appropriate, you were able to

         18  recognize what inappropriateness is.  So I am just

         19  trying to understand, you know, you got something

         20  working for you now, if it works, why fix it, is

         21  what we used to say, and so I am just wondering, why

         22  now are we putting this additional rule onto the

         23  process if in fact, the process has been working to

         24  identify or raise questions to the staff, in the

         25  event that there are these kinds of conflicts that
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          2  we are all trying to address?  I would dare say

          3  unions, LLC's candidates, et cetera.  So, what

          4  triggered this? Was there some great, like in the

          5  last round of elections, was there a lot of this

          6  going on?  I mean, I know Mr. Schwarz, that you

          7  recognized that there were two instances, two

          8  affiliated unions in your testimony, but other than

          9  that, what else did you see?  Has anybody been

         10  getting away with this problem?

         11                 MR. SCHWARZ: And to begin by making

         12  your point but then to disagree with the full

         13  implications of your point, those two instances were

         14  pretty blatant, where the particular individual

         15  signed all the forms for both of the unions.  But

         16  the, I think the, you sort of, a little while ago,

         17  remarked as if the board has all the power in the

         18  world.  The board does not have all the power in the

         19  world, nor all the information in the world.  We

         20  know that there are some union constitutions that

         21  indicate that the parent is meant to control what

         22  the child does, as far as political contributions

         23  go.

         24                 Now the board in the audit process,

         25  is in the worst position to find out what the facts
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          2  are.  Whereas the candidate, the candidate, let us

          3  say you were running, oh you might be running this

          4  year, you are not running for the council this year.

          5    But the candidate has a couple of unions that want

          6  to make a contribution. And first the candidate is

          7  really going to know whether they are sort of

          8  speaking with one voice, you know, that is something

          9  the candidate in their own mind going to know.  And

         10  the union surely knows whether the parent can tell,

         11  de facto, tell the child what to do.  I think all

         12  this rule does is to ask that, that question be

         13  asked at the beginning of the people who are most

         14  likely to know the answer.  The board is not going

         15  to, you know, be a Torquemada in enforcing this

         16  rule.  If the union and the candidate come forward

         17  with a plausible, a good answer to a simple

         18  question, which is, does the father or the mother

         19  tell the child what to do, then we are not going to

         20  be trying to write that PHD thesis on the way unions

         21  in New York City work.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, let me

         23  just be clear. The candidates do not know all you

         24  think they know in their relationships with the

         25  unions and/or their locals.  So I think you need to
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          2   -- I think there is a presumption of what

          3  candidates know that are participating in the

          4  Campaign Finance Program.  I have been in the

          5  program since day one, more or less, and I do not

          6  know, how many years has it been since the program

          7  has started?

          8                 MS. GORDON: 1988.

          9                 MR. SCHWARZ: 1988 or 89.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, since I

         11  was amongst the first.  And I am perhaps as

         12  sophisticated and involved as anyone else.  And I am

         13  always surprised at the affiliations of locals and

         14  who their parent may be.  And I am not saying that

         15  simply to make my point, I am just saying that there

         16  are many candidates out here that have varying

         17  levels of sophistication about who they are dealing

         18  with, especially when it comes to unions and other

         19  types of organizations.  And it is wrong to assume

         20  that so many of these candidates, I would dare say,

         21  90 percent of them, do not have the level of

         22  sophistication that you think they do.  Because if

         23  you just look at what is going on with term limits,

         24  and how many people are running, and how many new

         25  people are coming into the process, you realize you
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          2  are not getting people with that level of

          3  sophistication about who is out there, and what

          4  their relationships are, number one.

          5                 And number two, again, I still have

          6  not seen from you, why there has to be this process

          7  in terms of, you know, having discovered a serious

          8  problem in the system, or in the manner in which

          9  resources are given to candidates, and this

         10  relationship between the parent and the local.  I

         11  just do not see where their problem has arisen, to

         12  the point where this type of rule needs to be put in

         13  place.  And especially if it has the chilling effect

         14  of turning people away from the process, of turning

         15  people away from the opportunity to participate, and

         16  to get involved with local unions, and what not.  I

         17  do not think that is what we want, and I think every

         18  time we make a rule, that does not have a good

         19  foundation, then we are making it more onerous for

         20  people to participate in one of the best programs

         21  the City has.

         22                 MR. SCHWARZ: Nicole had one quick

         23  answer.

         24                 MS. GORDON: I just wanted to point

         25  out that years ago when these rules were in their
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          2  initial form originally passed and this happens to

          3  be in the context of corporate contributions, at the

          4  very beginning, I think the corporate affiliation

          5  rule was maybe the very first rule maybe, or one of

          6  the first at the board, adopted.  I do not think

          7  anybody knew or assumed what the possible extent of

          8  that problem would be, but it turned out to be the

          9  basis of the biggest assessment, assessed penalty,

         10  in the history of the board, when the Giuliani

         11  campaign was found to have hundreds of affiliated

         12  contributions from corporations.  And that was not

         13  because anybody sat around and said, oh these, this

         14  is an evil group and they do evil things.  It was

         15  because we were trying to clarify what the

         16  connections would be, and make sure candidates knew

         17  what they were, and then the day came when in fact,

         18  it turned out, yes, there is a real problem here,

         19  and it was the burden of the candidate to know the

         20  sources of contributions.  And on the sources of the

         21  information, I might give you another example that I

         22  think illustrates the same kind of problem.  One of

         23  the requirements of the law is that vendors, if they

         24  have subcontractors who do more than five thousand

         25  dollars worth of work, have to be listed.  Now

                                                            28

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  candidates, I do not think can ordinarily be

          3  expected to know one way or the other about the

          4  subcontractors, but they are required to ask, and

          5  they are required to pursue that information, and

          6  that is because they are in the best position,

          7  having the relationship with the contractor, to ask

          8  and get an answer in a much better position than the

          9  board is.  And similarly with these contributions,

         10  it is not so much always that is expected that every

         11  candidate will know every affiliation, although I

         12  think it is fair to say that many candidates will

         13  know what affiliations there are among

         14  organizational contributors.  But it is more that

         15  they have a relationship, evidenced by the fact that

         16  a contribution was received.  They have in the

         17  relationship that gives them an opportunity to ask

         18  the information and get the answer in a much more

         19  efficient and better way than the board could.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 I want to acknowledge Council Member

         23  Joseph Addabbo who has joined us.  And at this point

         24  I would like to turn to Council Member Bill

         25  DeBlasio, who is the prime sponsor of the
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          2  legislation to ask some questions and make some

          3  remarks.  Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Thank you,

          5  Mr. Chairman. Well first I would like to wish Happy

          6  Birthday to both of the birthday boys, united in

          7  this positive way with their birthdays.

          8                 Mr. Chairman, I want to thank you for

          9  having so expeditiously called this hearing.  As you

         10  know, a lot of us in the council, a lot of people in

         11  the community, feel very deeply on this matter, and

         12  felt it important that it be heard quickly, and I

         13  thank you for making it a priority.  And to Mr.

         14  Schwarz and Ms. Gordon, I am certain that some of

         15  what I will say and some of the questions I will

         16  ask, will sound like we are in conflict, and in a

         17  sense we are, but I would like to say at the outset,

         18  I have Mr. Schwarz tremendous admiration for the

         19  work you have done on behalf of New York City for

         20  many, many years.  I also admire anyone who takes on

         21  the thankless job of being chair of this board.  I

         22  appreciate your wisdom.  There must be a minor

         23  streak of masochism to take on this job.  God bless

         24  you for it.

         25                 And Ms. Gordon, we do not always
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          2  agree, but I know you care deeply about making the

          3  Campaign Finance system work, and that you care

          4  deeply about continuing to reform it, and I

          5  appreciate that.  I know your motives are good.  But

          6  we disagree fundamentally on this issue.  Let me

          7  just say at the outset, the reason I introduced this

          8  legislation and am very happy to be working so

          9  closely with my co- sponsor, Council Member Comrie,

         10  and a number of other co- sponsors, is that I think

         11  there is a fundamental misunderstanding on the part

         12  of the board, on the role of labor, on the role of

         13  membership organizations, on the difference between

         14  the Federal level and the local level.  I am not

         15  trying to talk down and say you guys are not the

         16  experts.   You are the experts, I am a layman.  But

         17  I think you do not understand the experience we go

         18  through every day.  I do not think you are listening

         19  to the experience the candidates go through, in

         20  terms of the way you formulated this particular

         21  rule.

         22                 I got involved in this because I

         23  looked at the situation in terms of the important

         24  voice that membership organizations that are also

         25  labor unions, provide in our society. And I have
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          2  learned over many years of experience, how diverse

          3  that voice is, how complex the labor union is.  I

          4  will share a bias. For many years I worked on

          5  campaigns, and I worked in government, and often in

          6  roles where I had to work with labor unions, and I

          7  have to say, that when I started in that work, I

          8  assumed that it was, in many ways, there was a

          9  hierarchial, dynamic, in all unions I assumed that

         10  the parent child dynamic you speak about. But

         11  through years and years of actually living a life, I

         12  found that within each union there are divergent

         13  voices from the international level to the district

         14  council level to the local level.  There is a huge

         15  broad range of opinion.  That range of opinion often

         16  derives from the fact that unions represent the

         17  local level.  Each local represents a different type

         18  of worker, with a different set of needs, different

         19  set of political interests.  There are political

         20  differences, pure, factional and political and

         21  philosophical differences running through unions.  I

         22  think you two, to understand how to treat labor

         23  unions in the Campaign Finance dynamic, you have to

         24  begin by understanding fully, how they operate

         25  today.  And you cannot stereotype them, you cannot
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          2  paint them with a broad brush. And I do not disagree

          3  with trying to use the parent child description to

          4  facilitate conversation.  But I hope that it is

          5  understood that, that usually is the farthest thing

          6  from the truth in reality.

          7                 And let me, I am going to go to a

          8  couple of different areas, and I will try to be

          9  quick.  I know my other colleagues are all raring to

         10  go.  But let me just start with this point.  Mr.

         11  Schwarz you talked about union constitutions or

         12  charters that delineate a superior role for the

         13   "senior unit" over the "junior unit".  I want to

         14  just ask the obvious question.  Can you cite us some

         15  chapter and verse on some that do that?

         16                 MR. SCHWARZ: I do not have that in my

         17  mind.  I know it was among the materials that was

         18  provided at the time we were having our discussion

         19  of the proposed rule.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Okay.  We

         21  had some meetings with folks who had a concern on

         22  this issue, and a similar concern was raised, and I

         23  think it actually related to DC37.  I will just say

         24  what I understood the case to be, that the reference

         25  was made to a provision in the constitution, I guess
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          2  of the district council saying that after, or I

          3  guess, before a certain date, the local unions were

          4  asked to withhold their endorsements of candidates

          5  until the district council had acted.  Now I would

          6  like to use that as an example, because it said

          7  anything but, but the local unions, the 50 something

          8  locals of District Council 37 had to do what the

          9  district council determined.  It asked them to wait

         10  and to see what the overall organization did.  In

         11  practice, anything but that occurs.  I do not even

         12  know when that constitution was written, but there

         13  is a number of people in this room who will testify

         14  I am sure that, that is now how it works day to day

         15  now.

         16                 I do not know of a single

         17  constitution or charter of a labor union, that

         18  dictates that for example, a local must follow the

         19  lead of a district council, or of an international

         20  unit. Again, my experience has been anything, but

         21  that.  I will use my own case in 2001.  And when I

         22  first ran, and let me say at the outset, that this

         23  system pragmatically is probably not been

         24  particularly good for me personally, and yet I could

         25  not believe in it more.  I support the four to one
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          2  match.  I think it is absolutely crucial to ensuring

          3  truly democratic process.  It did not advantage me

          4  in 2001, but that never changed my support, and you

          5  know some people in this body talked about trying to

          6  change that match to a two to one and I and a number

          7  of my colleagues opposed that, because we do believe

          8  in the power of the four to one match.  We do

          9  believe in allowing candidates, even if they do not

         10  have as many resources to participate.

         11                 When I went to the various locals of

         12  District Council 37 and to the parent council

         13  itself, I found some that were neutral, some that

         14  were with me, some that were with any number of the

         15  other five candidates against me.  So that would in

         16  one theoretical umbrella unit, I cannot tell you

         17  exactly but I believe three or four of the

         18  candidates in my race, were endorsed by one or

         19  another unit, and then the district council took yet

         20  another position.  So, I think it is crucial to

         21  understand, that is reality day to day.

         22                 I also want to take you to the point

         23  about the Federal level.  I think there is a

         24  practice in the labor movement, that says when the

         25  international union makes a determination on a
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          2  Federal race, that it asks the union's down stream

          3  from it, that work on local and regional issues, to

          4  defer to the international that works on Federal

          5  issues.  I think there is truth in that.  I think

          6  there is a structural reason for that.  The reverse

          7  is not true.  It is not that the international level

          8  dictates to the local level, in fact, the same

          9  respect is given to the local level to make its own

         10  determinations.  There is essentially in almost

         11  every case I have seen in the labor movement, a

         12  hands off attitude from the international level, to

         13  allow the local and the district council level to

         14  make the determinations they need to make, in light

         15  of the local issues they are facing.  So, let me

         16  just throw that, my experience at you and say, how

         17  do you answer the fact that, in factum, practice I

         18  believe in charter and constitution as well, locals

         19  and district councils are not dictated to by

         20  international unions?

         21                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, I think the, in a

         22  way that opens up my concern with your four factors,

         23  that I think you could, you could imagine having

         24  factors that are a little broader, that form the

         25  useful role of giving certainty.  But I find it
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          2  that, unless you include in your factors that one

          3  puts on the table, some broad question about, is the

          4  affiliated union, in fact making their own decision?

          5    I think then it just leaves too many loop holes.

          6                 Now on the comparison between the

          7  Federal issues and the local issues, I am not sure

          8  that I have much to contribute.  I know we did not

          9  in this rule, cover the AFLCIO and its constituent

         10  unions.  We specifically, I believe Nicole said that

         11  we were not covering that.

         12                 MS. GORDON: The umbrella

         13  organization.

         14                 MR. SCHWARZ: The umbrella, right,

         15  like the AFLCIO. I mean the -- you also, just as the

         16  chairman, have had a powerful, actually it would

         17  have been nice to have you testify before us when we

         18  held our hearings on the rule, but, like the

         19  chairman, you had a powerful and eloquent statement.

         20    But I think, I keep coming back to not saying that

         21  we have to be let alone.  But that I think your

         22  proposals are too loose, and that therefore in the

         23  name of trying to avoid burden on candidates, you

         24  might have created something that does give rise to

         25  the possibility of too much influence in a single
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          2  collective hand.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Well, I am

          4  going to take the first part of your answer to mean

          5  that there is no particular evidence that you have

          6  of international unions dictating to locals and

          7  district councils, how they should act.  And I am

          8  also going to respect your statement, that you are

          9  putting aside the international State and City units

         10  of the AFLCIO.  So you take those two pieces, the

         11  international unions off the table, and the larger

         12  labor federations off the table, we are now talking

         13  about district councils where they exist, and we are

         14  talking about local unions.  And again, if I

         15  understand you in the course of all the time we have

         16  had this program, I have only found a few instances

         17  where you feared the wrong kind of connection

         18  existed.

         19                 I am also concerned, and part of why

         20  we wrote this legislation this way, I am concerned

         21  about protecting the free speech of working people

         22  through their membership organizations which are

         23  labor unions.  I am concerned about respecting the

         24  differences among local unions, which again

         25  represent explicitly by structure, different types

                                                            38

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  of workers, and if you create a rule that might

          3  allow for a single contribution to count for more

          4  than one unit, where in fact, there is not undue

          5  connection, you could be chilling the free speech

          6  rights of those other units and of the workers they

          7  represent.

          8                 Again, I fear even when in the same

          9  breath, you talk about the work you have done in

         10  stopping the undue influence of corporations which I

         11  applaud, or when you talk about the Federal level.

         12  I think there is an attempt to make a comparison

         13  that does not exist to what a corporation does or

         14  even what a partnership does, is fundamentally

         15  different than what a membership organization does.

         16  Explicitly when the membership organization is

         17  structured to represent different types of workers.

         18  If they did not represent different types of

         19  workers, they would not be distinct units.  So there

         20  is a logic problem, in my view, there is a free

         21  speech problem, and there is a logic problem here.

         22  You would not want, I am certain, respecting the

         23  work you have done over the years, you would not

         24  want to find out that this local that represents

         25  crossing guards, and one type of people, one type of
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          2  pay, one type of experience, is being lumped with

          3  the people who represent librarians, and those are

          4  two distinct locals within DC37, for example.  That

          5  by virtue of this rule, somehow an assumption was

          6  made of a connection between those two, and then

          7  those two voices could no longer be distinct.  I

          8  cannot believe you would want that, and our fear is

          9  that your rule, because of the dynamic of the CFB

         10  today, where in the end, your rulings do

         11  effectively, if you will excuse this phrase, I am

         12  not a lawyer, but they carry the force of law, if

         13  you will, because the only way to truly overturn

         14  them, is by going to court, and that is not feasible

         15  for most candidates.  I think you, you open up here

         16  a situation where the wrong kinds of decisions can

         17  be made, and can ultimately compromise those

         18  distinct voices.  And you are doing it because of a

         19  problem that you admit from the jump is very, very

         20  limited.  And that is why we tried to come back with

         21  a set of definitions that got at the core concern,

         22  but did not run the risk of compromising those

         23  voices.

         24                 MR. SCHWARZ: So, I mean, just to take

         25  my criticisms of your four concerns, and which I
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          2  agreed were relevant, but I think are not

          3  sufficient, what would be wrong to asking the, in

          4  the situation where they are potentially controlled

          5  by the same source, for a statement to be made, that

          6  the decision of Union Two, was not in any way

          7  influenced by the decision or the dictate of Union

          8  One? That is not a burdensome or chilling question

          9  to ask.  And I think the problem with your four

         10  factors, which are objective, and that is a plus,

         11  and which at least the second two do get at possible

         12  issues, is that they are not sufficient to answer

         13  the potential and you know, I think we thought

         14  through our rule well, but I am now trying to focus

         15  on your law, and ways in which it could be adjusted

         16  to make sure that it is not avoiding the potential

         17  problem.  I mean, you are, I am sort of turning back

         18  the argument you are making against us, saying we

         19  did not have sufficient evidence to say, yes but,

         20  your four factors are not sufficiently careful, are

         21  not sufficiently complete, to guard against the

         22  situation where there is control by the Union A on

         23  the contribution decision of Union B.

         24                 Nicole, what have I left out, because

         25  I sometimes do leave things out and --
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          2                 MS. GORDON: I just had some notes, as

          3  I heard the conversation going I thought might be

          4  useful to clarify.  One is that the very useful

          5  testimony the board did receive among, from among

          6  others, from unions, very much informed the rule,

          7  and I think one thing not to assume is that the

          8  board or the staff think that there is a single size

          9  that fits all.  Far from it, the board very

         10  explicitly recognizes that there is a wide range of

         11  relationships among the unions, and therefore put

         12  out a detailed list of different kinds of factors

         13  that would be relevant.  There is not an assumption

         14  here that every union operates the same way, not

         15  whatsoever.

         16                 Secondly, I do not want to let pass

         17  the notion of how large a problem this is by

         18  dismissing it as minor or insignificant.  It would

         19  be difficult for us to quantify it because, as I

         20  have explained earlier, it usually is resolved

         21  through the audit process.  But the question has

         22  been posed many times and has had to be dealt with

         23  many times.

         24                      I also wanted to mention that

         25  while I think everyone appreciates the limited
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          2  resources or sophistication of some of the

          3  candidates, on the other hand, I do want to

          4  emphasize that on the occasions when unions have

          5  been called upon in one form or another to address

          6  issues that have to do with the Campaign Finance

          7  Law, they have done so with very able

          8  representation, and giving the board a great deal of

          9  very useful information, and even legal argument on

         10  some occasions.  So I do not think it is the really,

         11  I do not think the whole picture is just of a

         12  unsophisticated candidate getting multiple union

         13  contributions and not knowing how to deal with it.

         14  I think that what we have presented here is a kind

         15  of a road map that assists the candidates and the

         16  unions in knowing how to respond to the audit

         17  question, if and when it is opposed.

         18                 I also did not want to get away from

         19  this notion that, about the internationals, because

         20  I think what you said, Council Member DeBlasio, is

         21  correct, I do not think that our issue so much as

         22  with internationals, as with other relationships,

         23  and the fact that the Federal law is a very

         24  important guide to us, is not intended to get into

         25  the international world so much as to show that
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          2  there is a concern, and it is shared at other levels

          3  between the relationships, and it does not always

          4  have to be a parent going down, it can also be a

          5  local going up.  So there are lots of complexities

          6  that we hope that these various factors help to

          7  address, but the one most important thing I did want

          8  to say was that, I do not think anybody at the board

          9  assumes that in every instance a parent is telling a

         10  local what to do and that is the end of the story.

         11  It is understood that there is a wide range of

         12  practice, a wide range of history, and that in a

         13  given case, the facts may be very different from any

         14  other given case.

         15                 MR. SCHWARZ: We had very powerful

         16  testimony from, I think it was when the SCIU unions,

         17  that certainly made clear that, if I am right, that

         18  is what it was, but it was a union that came in, and

         19  their law firm actually gave a memorandum and made

         20  perfectly clear the points that you have made, that

         21  there are instances where there is clearly

         22  independent decision making.  But I am not going to

         23  repeat this point again, but I do think the thing

         24  that I am most troubled by about the bill, is that

         25  it does not require that there be an answer to the
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          2  question, is Union B being influenced and

          3  controlled?  Because the formal parts do not make

          4  impossible or unlikely that, so in a way I am

          5  spending more of my time here since this is a

          6  hearing on the bill, commenting on what I think are

          7  gaps in the approach in the bill.  I am not saying

          8  that it is foolish to take it on, and by any means,

          9  or that there is not reason to discuss it, but I

         10  think it is too narrow, those four factors.  And I

         11  am not going to say that again, because then I am

         12  going to sound like a broken record and I do not

         13  want to do that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         15  much Council Member DeBlasio.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Mr.

         17  Chairman, I thought you were not done because I just

         18  want to follow up on the point or two before, if I

         19  may, but if you wanted to jump in first.  Okay,

         20  thank you very much.  I will be quick.  And if I

         21  also could retain the right at the end to throw in a

         22  question or two if other things come out, I would

         23  appreciate that very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The retentions

         25  are negotiable.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Thank you,

          3  Sir, you are a fine leader.

          4                 On the point about the nature of

          5  candidates dealing with this process, respectfully,

          6  I want to say a number of people submitted testimony

          7  for your hearing, I was one of the people who

          8  submitted written testimony.  We do not have to have

          9  a long process discussion on how all the process

         10  leading up to your rule took place, I would

         11  personally say I think there could have been more

         12  dialog with people who have experienced the system.

         13  But my fundamental point is I think you are

         14  misunderstanding from a candidate point of view, how

         15  difficult it is currently, let alone how difficult

         16  it would be with the rule you have put in place.

         17  You are asking candidates, not the labor unions when

         18  you audit them, I want to be very clear, you raised

         19  a point that is different from what I am saying.

         20  You are asking candidates up front, to somehow

         21  understand the nuances of each labor relationship on

         22  top of everything else they are doing, to comply

         23  with the increasingly complex and difficult Campaign

         24  Finance Law, while running for office in a

         25  competitive context.  And you are suggesting that
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          2  people with very little money to deal with because

          3  of the stringent limits we have, and the caps we

          4  have, that people can afford either themselves or

          5  through staff, to somehow navigate all of this.  And

          6  is just not realistic.  And part of why we wrote

          7  this legislation this way, was to have very clear

          8  transparent straight forward standards.

          9                 And Mr. Schwarz, you raised a

         10  concern, obviously I believe the bill we wrote is

         11  effective and sufficient.  We will always keep an

         12  open dialog with you.  You know, if I am going to

         13  criticize process and how you did the rule, it would

         14  be hypocritical for me to say, I do not want to talk

         15  to you anymore. So I do want to talk to you.  I

         16  think we do want to have an ongoing dialog.  I think

         17  it is the nature of the people up here at this

         18  table, to always have a dialog.

         19                 But I think you are fundamentally,

         20  respectfully, believe me, not only misunderstanding

         21  that it is a labor movement, and a local union, you

         22  are misunderstanding what candidates go through.

         23  And even more so in sergeancy and new first time

         24  candidates, and less well funded candidates. So the

         25  very people that I would think it would be your
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          2  mission to defend, are going to be put in the

          3  toughest situation here.

          4                 So I just want to say that I think if

          5  you expect people to look at this rule, make sense

          6  of it, go out and have a dialog with each union that

          7  might support them to understand and proactively

          8  deal with this, it is a formula for disaster,

          9  whereas we believe that the wording of our bill is

         10  clear enough and straight forward enough, that both

         11  the candidates and the unions can make sense of it

         12  and act accordingly.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: All right, thank

         14  you very much. I would like to now acknowledge

         15  Council Member Leroy Comrie for some questions and

         16  remarks, but in the meantime I also want to

         17  acknowledge the presence of Council Member Philip

         18  Reed.  Philip Reed, Council Member Reed is going to

         19  be in and out of this hearing.  He has two other

         20  committees that are meeting as we speak. One is

         21  Public Safety and the other is Cultural Affairs.

         22  You can see, and one of them is across the street at

         23  250 Broadway and the other one is over here, and

         24  unlike me he does not train for the marathon, so you

         25  can see he is going to be quite winded today.  But
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          2  nevertheless, we appreciate the fact that he is

          3  trying to do his due diligence.  So, in that --

          4                 And once again, I would like to

          5  acknowledge the presence of Council Woman Madeline

          6  Provenzano.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Though you

          8  did not quite get it out last time you commented,

          9  Prove --  I know there is, you know --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, I am glad

         11  you reminded me.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: -- Lots of

         13  other stuff that goes on here, but.  And I just want

         14  to -- And it was right after you were talking about

         15  birthdays.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: So I would

         18  like to let you know that my birthday is Saturday.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Oh boy, did

         20  somebody bring a cake?  This is a party, not a

         21  hearing.

         22                 Anyway, Council Member Comrie.  Happy

         23  Birthday.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Happy Birthday

         25  to all of the birthday people and good morning,
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          2  thank you Mr. Chair.

          3                 I do not think I am going to be as

          4  eloquent as the first two speakers this morning,

          5  since they have already covered most of the topics,

          6  there is no point in being repetitive. I will just

          7  go straight to Q and A, if you do not mind.

          8                 Because we still have not, you said a

          9  lot of things this morning, but you still have not

         10  made your case.  You said that you do not have any

         11  specifics that you really want to talk about. You

         12  said it is an audit process.  You said that while

         13  our practice and the bill were too narrow, you know,

         14  we are still concerned about how your rules will

         15  work in practice, and how they have worked in

         16  practice, previously.  And also the concern about,

         17  what does this process take currently under your

         18  understanding?  Because how can a candidate ever get

         19  a handle on what the process is?  And by that I

         20  mean, you state that there is this parent union

         21  dominating theory which I do not, I have an

         22  overwhelming experience that, that has not happened

         23  on a local level, especially in the last couple of

         24  election cycles, where --  And we have so many cases

         25  now where unions are, local unions are, actually
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          2  trying to extract themselves from the parent, not

          3  just on political matters, but on substance and

          4  policy matters,  And you keep talking about this

          5  children parent theory, which I just do not agree

          6  with.  Most major unions in this City, the

          7  individual locals that I have had intimate

          8  experience with, are in a different mind set than

          9  the parent union on a lot of the different issues.

         10  Councilman DeBlasio made the point of the librarians

         11  and the traffic agents.  I would make the- enhance

         12  that point, that there are many union locals with

         13  different focus and different desires, that you are

         14  lumping together in one unnecessary collective.

         15            But the administration at a current rule

         16  is where I am having, where we came up with the

         17  major problems in my mind, anyway, as to how this is

         18  being promulgated, how candidates are getting

         19  notified, how people actually work with this,

         20  because there is no specific process that anyone can

         21  delineate, that anyone can make sense of, which is

         22  why we figured that we had to come up with something

         23  that was omnibus, that we clear it up and make it

         24  easier, so that this would no longer be a factor

         25  that Campaign Finance would have to worry about.
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          2  And, you know, that is, I would like to get to what

          3  your envision of process was, because it seems to

          4  have chilled the ability of many people to be

          5  involved in campaigns.             And also, well,

          6  let us start with that question first.

          7                 MS. SCHWARZ: So, Nicole whispered to

          8  me that she had a thought in response to your

          9  comment.

         10                 MS. GORDON: On the specific process

         11  point, it occurs to me after listening also to

         12  Council Member DeBlasio's comments and to yours,

         13  that one thing that is going to happen, whether it

         14  is the form of what occurs in this bill now, or a

         15  later version, or in the form of the board's rules,

         16  is that one way or another, there needs to be some

         17  communication between the candidate and the union,

         18  in order to get an answer to a question, whether

         19  that question --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: It has to be

         21  between the candidate and what?  I can hardly hear,

         22  it is hard to hear either one of you, by the way.

         23                 MS. GORDON: I am sorry.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Just pull the

         25  microphone closer.
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          2                 MS. GORDON: Sorry.  Okay.  That there

          3  needs to be some communication between a candidate

          4  who has received a contribution from multiple

          5  potentially affiliated unions and the unions.  And I

          6  wonder whether this could not be largely solved,

          7  without talking right now about the exact content of

          8  a letter, why this could not largely be solved by

          9  having at the administrative level, the Campaign

         10  Finance Board, coming up with a form of some kind, a

         11  letter of some kind, that candidates could use with

         12  confidence, knowing that once they had sent out a

         13  request for certain kinds of information, I am not

         14  saying that what that information would be, sending

         15  it to the potentially affiliated union or unions.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Would this be

         17  done during the campaign or during the audit

         18  process?

         19                 MS. GORDON: I would expect that, I

         20  think it might be most efficient to do it during the

         21  election, although I do not want to have a full

         22  answer to that yet because of course a lot of these

         23  things are not usually resolved until after the

         24  election.  But one of the problems is that --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But --
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          2                 MS. GORDON: -- The board does hold up

          3  payments to campaigns if there appear to be over the

          4  limit contributions during the campaign, so it might

          5  be most efficient to be doing it as the campaign

          6  goes along.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But we are

          8  trying to put this bill in so that we do not have a

          9  back campaign, you know, where you have done your

         10  campaign, you have done your process, you have tried

         11  to do as much as you can, which you think

         12  legitimately to do your outreach, to do your

         13  planning and process, and then six months later, you

         14  find out that you have to hire a lawyer, you have to

         15  hire an accountant.  I mean this is the reason for

         16  this bill.

         17                 MS. GORDON: Which is why, I think

         18  that you --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: We are trying

         20  to eliminate the confusion up front, as opposed to

         21  doing it after the fact.  I mean, it is punitive, it

         22  is regressive, and it makes absolutely no common

         23  sense, that we have to go back and give you

         24  additional burden, actually.  Because then your team

         25  has to figure out who is on first, who is on second,
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          2  was this viable, was this not viable? You know, we

          3  are trying to clean all of this up.  And that, you

          4  know, I am trying to keep it as simple as possible,

          5  because we are trying to focus on correcting what we

          6  think is an administrative nightmare for the

          7  candidates, which is beyond most candidates purview

          8  to even understand.  And it is an administrative

          9  nightmare for you, because then it creates another

         10  situation where you have to make rules, that six

         11  months later you have to change, which has often

         12  happened on the process.  So you have to make

         13  decisions, which six months later you cannot, you

         14  realize it does not, it is not in compliance.  So we

         15  are trying to come up with a forward process, as

         16  opposed to a reverse process in this.  We are trying

         17  to make it so that candidates can start the campaign

         18  knowing what their limitations are, what their

         19  abilities are, as opposed to being at the end of a

         20  campaign, or in the middle of a campaign and

         21  realizing that they may have to go out and number

         22  one, raise a fine, raise money to pay a fine, or

         23  raise money to make up whatever the short fall was,

         24  because this is no longer allowable  That is why we

         25  are trying to do it, you know, some pre active, pre
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          2  active stuff as opposed to reactionary stuff.

          3                 MR. SCHWARZ: You know, frankly, this

          4  hearing is just the kind of thing that when I really

          5  had a hard job, which was running the 1989 Charter

          6  Commission that is responsible for the expanded

          7  council and the more powerful council, is just the

          8  kind of thing I hoped would happen.  Because we have

          9  been having a very thoughtful and powerful

         10  discussion.  And coming out of the comments and

         11  Nicole's recent mention of a letter, I think, and

         12  this might give the factor that I think is missing

         13  from the current bill, I think if the board were to

         14  provide a letter which we would send over to this

         15  committee, sort of in draft form, as something that

         16  a candidate would be, when there is a possible

         17  overlap between the two union contributions, the

         18  candidate would be expected to just to send that

         19  simple letter, to --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Just a moment.

         21

         22                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes, sorry,

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Sorry, but can

         24  you repeat that because I am on --

         25                 MR. SCHWARZ: Which, the compliments
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          2  to the council? Or my substantive point?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: You can pass,

          4  the compliments will work again.

          5                 MR. SCHWARZ: Okay, I will do my

          6  substantive point. Which was --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Or the hard

          8  work of '89, let us move --

          9                 MR. SCHWARZ: I am going to do my

         10  substantive point again, which is that I think that

         11  following up on what Nicole said, if we were to

         12  draft up and send over to this committee, a letter

         13  which a candidate could send to the contributing

         14  union, in a situation where there is a possible

         15  overlap between the two unions, that would ask the

         16  union to get back and answer whether they are, I

         17  mean, the thrust of the letter, I am not trying to

         18  write it here, but the thrust of it would be, are

         19  you acting independently when you make your

         20  judgement to support Candidate X?  And I think if

         21  one could do that, we should be able to satisfy

         22  Council Member Comrie's concern about something

         23  hanging over the candidate, and we should be able to

         24  avoid the concerns that Chairman Perkins and Mr.

         25  DeBlasio, Council Member DeBlasio said of, we do not
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          2  want the candidates to be responsible for writing a

          3  PHD thesis about the relationship between various

          4  unions in New York City.  So I think the hearing, by

          5  leading to that suggestion which I think can be

          6  constructive, maybe has helped a bit on moving

          7  toward a good solution.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  I appreciate

          9  your trying to think of things on the fly, but I

         10  still, it still does not really resolve my primary

         11  issue, which is trying to make sure that at the

         12  beginning of the campaign, the candidates have an

         13  opportunity to understand what their commitments

         14  are.  Which is why we wanted to bring the law, to

         15  take away that responsibility and that burden of

         16  focus from the Campaign Finance Board, to make it

         17  easier and plain. It is something you might want to

         18  include as possibly in the legislation, but I think

         19  that my major fundamental problem is that we are

         20  trying to make the Campaign Finance Program easier

         21  and transparent for people to be a part of, so that

         22  they can understand ahead of time, what the issues

         23  are, as opposed to being in a campaign in 2003, and

         24  then have to pay fines on a campaign from a 2003 and

         25  2005 for stuff that they thought was legal in 2003,
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          2  or 2001, or 2007.  I mean, we are trying to make it

          3  transparent ahead of time, which is why we are

          4  trying to come up with what we thought was a clean

          5  simple solution, that day one or day zero,

          6  individuals would want to come up with.

          7                 They need me to start a quorum next

          8  door, so I am going to come back and do the rest of

          9  my questions.  Because that actually leads to

         10  another example of the same kind of problem that I

         11  see coming up for candidates this year.  And I will

         12  get back to the specifics on that later.  But, you

         13  know, again, before I run next door, you know, I

         14  believe in Campaign Finance, but I believe that the

         15  transparency of Campaign Finance must remain

         16  sacrosanct for it to stay to its original purpose.

         17  As we get more complicated and more technical, in

         18  trying to protect everything, we need to be more

         19  transparent so that at least people can know up

         20  front, what their rules and responsibilities are, as

         21  opposed to dealing with it on the back end.

         22                 So, let me go start this quorum and I

         23  will turn it back over to Mr. Chair and ask for the

         24  opportunity to come back and ask more questions

         25  again.  Thank you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Council Member

          3  Addabbo.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you

          5  Council Member Reed.     Good afternoon to the CFB

          6  board, and I appreciate your time and testimony

          7  today, and also the work that you do.

          8                 Who exactly, who is the person who

          9  thought of this rule, who actually devised this

         10  rule?  Who is it by name?

         11                 MR. SCHWARZ: This came from the staff

         12  as a proposal for discussion.  I have no idea what

         13  particular individual -- I think they always act

         14  collectively, anyway, so --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay.  So the

         16  staff brings it to the board.

         17                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Let us talk

         19  about the board for a second. I understand, and

         20  correct me if I am wrong, Mr. Schwarz, I understand

         21  that there are no board members who voted on this

         22  rule, that have any affiliation with a union, is

         23  that correct? None of them are union members.

         24                 MR. SCHWARZ: I belonged to the

         25  Teamsters in 1957, that is a long time ago.  And I
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          2  cannot speak for my other, I do not have an

          3  affiliation today and I cannot speak for my other

          4  colleagues.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: If my

          6  understanding is correct that, aside from possibly

          7  yourself, that there are no other board members who

          8  are union members, or are affiliated with any

          9  unions.  And that fact will lead us to believe that

         10  the foundation for this rule is questionable, and

         11  that the basic source of the vote, and the basic

         12  source of how this rule was created if they are

         13  asking us to believe that, you know, that they know

         14  the relationship between locals and unions, that

         15  there is no foundation for that belief, that

         16  basically they are asking us to believe in a rule

         17  that was voted on with no first hand knowledge, of

         18  the relationship between locals and unions.  And I

         19  think that, that fact leaves us to have a

         20  questionable foundation, a questionable belief in

         21  the foundation of this rule, and also again that the

         22  vote itself by the board members who have no

         23  affiliation with any unions, and they do not know of

         24  the relationships between locals and unions, I

         25  believe that gives us a false sense of security with
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          2  regards to the belief that this rule has a well

          3  founded basis.

          4                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, you know, it is, I

          5  do not think that one could use as a standard for

          6  whether it is appropriate to issue a rule that the

          7  people issuing it have personal experience. You, the

          8  reason CAPA exists, is so that rules can get

          9  promulgated and then are debated in the rule making

         10  process.  So similarly, people who vote on your

         11  body, they vote on lots of subjects, like lead

         12  paint, where they may or may not have personal

         13  experience with it, but they decided, based on the

         14  hearings they have and the information they get and

         15  so forth.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: When we vote

         17  on a situation, like lead paint, aside from the

         18  hearings, like Council Member DeBlasio said, we will

         19  call out to certain experts, and not just limited to

         20  hearings, we will just have, again, conversations

         21  with those who are in the business.  Based on what I

         22  heard and what I am hearing or reading here, I just

         23  see hearings, I do not see any other investigations,

         24  so again, I am going to end with the fact that I do

         25  not believe there is a good foundation for this rule
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          2  based on those who devised it, those who voted on

          3  it, do not have first hand knowledge of the

          4  relationship between a local and a union.  Thank

          5  you, Mr. Chair.

          6                 MR. SCHWARZ: But the unions have

          7  first hand knowledge and to go back to Nicole's, I

          8  thought creative thought, which came in response to

          9  questions from the council members, what is wrong

         10  with asking the unions who do have first hand

         11  knowledge to say, whether or not their decision to

         12  endorse or give money to a certain candidate, was

         13  their own or was influenced by --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Mr. Schwarz,

         15  the union, the same unions do not agree in this rule

         16  who I believe have voiced their opinion against the

         17  rule, who are also guests in future panels today,

         18  will tell you that there is a difference between the

         19  parent and the child.  There is a difference between

         20  a union and a local.  So, I even think that

         21  statement is unfounded.

         22                 MR. SCHWARZ: But let us assume that

         23  is true.  Then if the facts are clear, what is wrong

         24  with asking for the facts in a simple way doing it

         25  up front and early, to respond to Council Member
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          2  Comrie's observation, that it is better to know

          3  early?  What is wrong with asking that question?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Again, if you

          5  want to base it on fact, I will go back to the fact

          6  that those who devised this plan, those who voted on

          7  the plan, have no first hand knowledge and are not

          8  affiliated with any union.  That is a fact, as well.

          9    And then it puts an undue burden on us council

         10  members who really were not in the position, whereas

         11  the Campaign Finance Board may have been in the

         12  position, I think is unfair, as well.  The

         13  candidates, exactly.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I want to

         15  acknowledge the attendance of Council Woman Eva

         16  Moskowitz.  I am not sure if Council Woman Brewer

         17  was acknowledged, or Council Member Quinn, who has

         18  also been with us.  As I said earlier, members will

         19  be coming in and out, because of other matters that

         20  are taking place.

         21                 MR. SCHWARZ: How come Council Member

         22  Brewer gets a throne up there in the -- more

         23  comfortable.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thrones are

         25  always more comfortable, by definition.

                                                            64

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 MR. SCHWARZ: That is the danger of

          3  them.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: That is the

          5  danger of them. Very good.

          6                 So, let me ask, the concern about the

          7  unions, somehow stated up front that there is not

          8  this conflict of interest.  It seems to be an idea

          9  that -- how does that, that is somewhat acceptable,

         10  how does that apply to the rule?  Is that because

         11  the rule is directed toward the candidates, not

         12  towards the unions?

         13                 MS. GORDON: Well the board only has

         14  jurisdiction in the first instance over candidates.

         15  And as I was describing for example, in the case of

         16  subcontractors, there are instances in the way that

         17  candidates operate, in which they have to go outside

         18  to collect information relevant to their campaign,

         19  that they then submit to the board.  And this is an

         20  example of that, where you pose a question to a

         21  contributor as you pose questions to the

         22  contributors on other things as well, that are

         23  required by the law, and that information is then

         24  submitted to the board.  So, again, at the risk of

         25  repeating myself, when you have an expenditure to a
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          2  vendor, and there is a potential that there were

          3  subcontractors who did more than five thousand

          4  dollars worth of work, the campaign needs to go and

          5  get that information, a letter that goes out very

          6  similar to the one perhaps that we might be talking

          7  about in the case of unions, a letter goes out that

          8  asks this information from the contractor with whom

          9  the candidate has a relationship.

         10                 MR. SCHWARZ: You know, Council

         11  Member, Mr. Chairman, I guess I should say, when I

         12  endorsed Nicole's idea of the letter, I was not

         13  thinking so much what it does to the rule or what it

         14  does to the statute, but that it seemed to me that

         15  it would help resolve the discussion we have been

         16  having, and either moot a statute or add to a

         17  statute, in a way that would not contravene the

         18  interest that the board was trying to protect in its

         19  rule making.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me just for

         21  the record, you do realize that there is a

         22  burdensomeness (sic.) On the part of the candidates

         23  in trying to comply with the rule, that might have a

         24  chilling effect.

         25                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, I do, I mean I
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          2  think I acknowledged from the get go that I did not

          3  want this to turn into a requirement for a PHD

          4  thesis by the candidate.  I think that would be

          5  unfair and you guys are not, you know, applying to

          6  get a PHD anyway.  You are applying to get elected.

          7  So it should not be something which requires a

          8  candidate to run an investigation or write a PHD

          9  thesis.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I do not think

         11  there will be a PHD thesis, but there will probably

         12  be a consultant that might have to have those

         13  qualifications that will have to be high.  You see,

         14  I do not mean to be facetious about this, because I

         15  think that sometimes we do not realize what it takes

         16  to comply.  And that candidates do not have, just in

         17  and of themselves, the wear with all to do all this

         18  work.  So you never have treasurers that help you to

         19  navigate some of the you know, responsibilities that

         20   --  But now you are going to have to have somebody

         21  with the expertise to understand the dynamics, the

         22  kind of research that you are talking about, you do

         23  not even have.  For instance, we do not know what

         24  all the constitutions of the union are.  We do not

         25  know how those constitutions, or those by laws, or
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          2  those relationships are intersect and in what

          3  instances do they intersect, and what instances do

          4  they not intersect?  And there is a myriad of these

          5  types of arrangements, that while you are not asking

          6  for a PHD, it would probably be playing it better

          7  safe than sorry, if one did have some sort of

          8  expertise in union relationships, and I think that,

          9  that just adds another layer of concern for

         10  candidates. Because then if you do not do it right,

         11  then you are going to be fined, and you are going to

         12  be noted on the internet, or you are going to be

         13  hounded by the press about this, that, and the

         14  other. And there is a fear that candidates have

         15  about having to navigate this system as it is, and

         16  then if we add another, layer it becomes even more

         17  onerous and chilling.

         18                 MR. SCHWARZ: You know, on having to

         19  hire a consultant to which certainly we do not want

         20  to force people to do that unnecessarily, I do not

         21  think the writing of a simple letter which could be

         22  laid out in the candidate handbook, requires a

         23  consultant to, or a professional to help you with

         24  it, because one could, I mean, when we finish here,

         25  I think we will go back and see if we can devise
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          2  such a letter and share it with you all.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

          4  DeBlasio.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Thank you,

          6  Mr. Chairman. Mr. Schwarz, again, I know your

          7  suggestions are in good faith.  Let me make one in

          8  good faith back to you.  I think, again, we will

          9  look at anything, consider anything, but the best

         10  way to foster this dialog, and I do not mean to be

         11  overly harsh here, but the best way to foster this

         12  dialog is to pull back your rule and start afresh in

         13  this environment where we are putting forward a

         14  number of concerns, we have structured legislation

         15  that we think gets to the way to answer the bigger

         16  problems, and does it in a transparent and open and

         17  useable manner.  You are now suggesting for the

         18  first time, another way to approach it.  But it is

         19  all bluntly a little bit with a gun to our head, if

         20  you are having to put forward a rule in midstream, I

         21  might add, in the middle of a cycle that applies to

         22  the cycle we are in, I would think the honorable

         23  thing and the effective thing to do if we really all

         24  want to enter into a dialog to try and solve this

         25  problem, is to suspend this rule and we get together
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          2  and we solve the problem going forward.

          3                 MR. SCHWARZ: I will have to think

          4  about that, councilman, because I think having

          5  focused on the subject, it seems to me if we can

          6  find a solution within either your legislation or

          7  within the rule, I think that is preferable than to

          8  just suspend something.  I think it does not have a

          9  good flavor to suspend something, if there are

         10  solutions to the concerns that have been put

         11  legitimately, put on the table.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO:  I just want

         13  to pursue this for one moment.  I, again, believe in

         14  both of your good intentions. I am a little shocked

         15  given how much both of you are synonymous with the

         16  effort to ensure a good government, that you made a

         17  rule, and I believe it was February of the year of a

         18  September election, and applied it to the current

         19  cycle.  So, this whole problem of trying to come up

         20  with a solution, has been exasperated by the fact

         21  that you did not take an action for the following

         22  cycle, you did not take the action in the very

         23  beginning of the current cycle, say January '04.

         24  You took it well into the cycle when people had

         25  already received contributions, and believed they
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          2  were doing the right thing.  And in a sense create a

          3  dynamic where we had to then move a piece forward,

          4  and now I am glad we are having a productive public

          5  ballot and we can have a private ballot, et cetera.

          6  But I do not understand the logic since you are this

          7  very day putting forward new thoughts entirely, of

          8  continuing with a rule in midstream if you by, in

          9  effect, admitting that there may be more to do on

         10  this, why do we not go back to square one and solve

         11  this together?

         12                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, I know, I mean I

         13  raised the same question that you have asked about

         14  why should we do this now, and was persuaded that

         15  the rule was not a change from the substance of what

         16  had been going on before, so that it was just

         17  providing, it was just providing additional factors

         18  to help candidates and to providing transparency, in

         19  to pick up the word that one of your colleagues was

         20  using.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: If in fact, that

         22  was the case, then there would not be a need for a

         23  rule anyway.  The reason being that it could have

         24  been noticed in the book, you know, that you give to

         25  us, that we are going to be scrutinizing to make
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          2  sure that there is not this conflict that you are

          3  concerned about, and that there is nothing different

          4  than what we have been doing up until now.  This is

          5  clearly significantly different.  Because clearly

          6  what is being suggested is that candidates do a

          7  certain clearance and, you know, the thing that

          8  sometimes staff may not realize, is anytime you tell

          9  a candidate they have to do something, it puts a

         10  chill in them.  The most difficult moment when one

         11  goes to a mailbox, is to see something that says

         12  Campaign Finance Board on it.  Because it is not

         13  good news.  It is not a birthday greeting. And I

         14  think that all we have done is we have just added

         15  another opportunity, another reason for people to

         16  have some concern about people participating in a

         17  program in which I do not think, I do not believe is

         18  your intention, but I do believe that if there is

         19  wrongful further discussion, then I would strongly

         20  encourage the suggestion by my colleague Council

         21  Member DeBlasio, be taken into serious

         22  consideration, because I think what we are trying to

         23  do is to move forward in a way that helps the

         24  process, and if in fact, we made a rush to judgement

         25  so to speak, or to rule making, then it is good to
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          2  see if maybe we can slow it down, and come up with a

          3  way that makes some kind of sense.

          4                 Finally, we will hear from Council

          5  Member Comrie.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Slow what

          7  down?  You do not mean -- oh, okay.  No, no, no, I

          8  mean, I thought you meant slowing down passage of

          9  the bill.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: No, no, no, no,

         11  no.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Oh okay.

         13  Alright.  That is what happens when you pop out of

         14  the room.  Okay.

         15                 Council member Brewer has a question,

         16  can I defer to her for one minute so I can re- do my

         17  thing?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I just want to

         19  understand Fritz, the logistics of your letter idea.

         20    How does the actual logistics, I am certainly one,

         21  if the Campaign Finance Board is a dichotomy because

         22  on one hand the staff is perhaps the best in the

         23  City in terms of responsiveness, and I say that with

         24  total candor. But when you get that letter in the

         25  mail, it is, oh my God, what have I done wrong?  On
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          2  the other hand, how would this letter situation

          3  work, logistically?  Who would send the letter?  How

          4  would it, how fast would it have to be responded to?

          5    What would be the mechanism?

          6                 MS. GORDON: I will just throw out a

          7  couple of ideas because I do not want to get ahead

          8  of the game without having thought it through

          9  completely, but what I was thinking of was that we

         10  could put together a, what would essentially be a

         11  form, that the candidate could alter to make it

         12  perhaps geared toward the candidates own flavor or

         13  something.  But essentially the core of it would be

         14  a form that would pose a question or questions to a

         15  contributor that essentially said, I need to be able

         16  to provide certain information to the Campaign

         17  Finance Board, please answer this question, giving

         18  whatever information would be helpful to help the

         19  person answer the question.  I do not know what

         20  deadline ought to be asked for, but presumably you

         21  would want a response within some period of time,

         22  and then I would hope to get a good answer, a

         23  sufficient answer from the union, and then you would

         24  have a record that would permit you to decide

         25  whether you are either going to return a potentially
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          2  over the limit contribution, or that you felt you

          3  now have the information that you need to show the

          4  board if the question is asked, that there is not an

          5  overlap.  Now there may be refinements to that, that

          6  would make it efficient, and I hope efficient and

          7  dispositive in early stage.  But without thinking it

          8  through and sitting down with the staff at the

          9  Campaign Finance Board, I would not want to get

         10  ahead of a kind of generalized thought about how I

         11  would hope it might work.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  I

         13  appreciate that.  I do not just say that, that is

         14  hard, because many people are more organized than I

         15  am.  I am certainly not the most organized.  And so

         16  something like that is very complicated, because you

         17  do events, you get checks, particularly from unions.

         18    They are very kind and they send them because they

         19  feel like you have been doing a good job and you

         20  have been working with them, you do not necessarily

         21  solicit  I could not even tell you, I have the full

         22  list of all the unions, I know others do, but I am

         23  not saying that I do.  So this is a very, I have to

         24  say, kind of haphazard situation. Because it would

         25  put a chill perhaps on the unions participating, and
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          2  a chill on the candidates asking, because you would

          3  be so afraid that you would not get the piece of

          4  paper in on a timely basis.  Well I am just saying,

          5  if you were in a situation in an office, like we are

          6  now, you know with staffs that permanent and so on,

          7  it might work.  The campaign is in whatever office

          8  you can find, people coming and going, et cetera.

          9  It is not -- and you have a finance place in one, at

         10  least in my situation, in one location, maybe you

         11  are using a club part time for your campaign staff,

         12  you are doing cell phones, you could, you know what

         13  it is like.  And so it is very hard to keep that

         14  kind of track.

         15                 MS. GORDON: Well, let me give you one

         16  thought that I just quickly asked our staff about.

         17  One option, for example, and again, I would like to

         18  have some time to think this out in a very concrete

         19  detailed way, but one thing we could do, perhaps, is

         20  to identify for you, which contributions that you

         21  have listed are the ones that the letter triggered,

         22  that would trigger a letter going out, that we would

         23  identify the ones, so that at least in the first

         24  instance, you are not worrying about the receipt of

         25  the contribution, because I know the campaigns want
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          2  to get those contributions and not at that stage be

          3  rebuffing them, for sure. But that as you know, we

          4  send you some information after each filing about

          5  the contributions, and as part of that process,

          6  perhaps there is another process, we could write

          7  back to you and say, here are the three

          8  contributions you got that you would help your

          9  campaign by sending this letter out and have it put

         10  in your file the response.  For example, --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I hear you and

         12  I understand, I am just giving you the scenario on

         13  our end that is very confusing and is often

         14  neighbors, you know, bringing checks in different

         15  places, et cetera.  And so, I just say that it has

         16  challenges in terms of logistics.  I will just leave

         17  it at that.  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         19  Comrie.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I just wanted

         21  to echo, I think Council Member Brewer makes my

         22  earlier point.  We need to pass this bill so that we

         23  can no longer have these bandied about discussions

         24  and deliberations and confusion.  Let us just get it

         25  clear and have it done, so that the Campaign Finance
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          2  can work on other worthy matters, as opposed to

          3  having to be concerned about xyz, or if x is y, or

          4  if y is z, or when is y, z, or when is y, a? You

          5  know, it is just unnecessary.  You know, I am just,

          6  and also, you know, the fact that this is regressive

          7  and punitive and goes back to other elections and

          8  puts undo burdens on candidates, it just I think,

          9  speaks of a problem that we do not need to have

         10  under Campaign Finance, where you consistently are

         11  having to make assessments on the fly.  And I think

         12  I am going to leave it at that.  Because I think

         13  that keeps it, that keeps it focused and keeps it

         14  clean, as opposed to abandoning about, whether or

         15  not it should be done, or should not be done,

         16  whether or not we, we are trying to clear up, clean

         17  up the process in my opinion.

         18                 I do have another issue, but I do not

         19  think I want to bring it up today, because it is

         20  only relevant to the fact that Campaign Finance has

         21  changing rules and, you know, I think we to really

         22  need to look at that whole thing, but in deference

         23  to the Chair, since I have not discussed it with

         24  him, I will talk about it later.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I think the
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          2  concern is relevant.  I do not mean to stifle you in

          3  that regard, because I think it sort of underscores

          4  a point that Council Member DeBlasio was trying to

          5  make, which is that we are making rules in the

          6  course of the political season --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: -- That apply

          9  for that political season, and that is difficult for

         10  candidates to comply with, and it makes it again, a

         11  chilling effect to participate in the program.  So

         12  if that is your concern, I think that underscores

         13  the question that was raised again by Council Member

         14  DeBlasio.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And I just

         16  want to, and since I have imbedded it with the

         17  Chair, I just want to, you know, I do not say

         18  admonish, but I cannot come up with a better word

         19  right now, but there is a promulgation of rules

         20  during the campaign, or requiring something that

         21  requires a legal opinion, or requires something that

         22  recalls that requires a change in policy and process

         23  during the course of a campaign, I think is contrary

         24  to what the mission of Campaign Finance is, which is

         25  to be claritive (sic) and transparent.  You know, as
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          2  Council Member Brewer just said, most campaigns are

          3  run on a shoe string, in different locations, with

          4  different volunteers, with having your finance chair

          5  as a volunteer, having your location maybe at a

          6  different club or several different clubs depending

          7  on where your campaign district is.  So when there

          8  is a change in the rules being promulgated by

          9  Campaign Finance, and I have a really fundamental

         10  problem with Campaign Finance being prosecutor,

         11  judge, jury and now rule maker. I mean, that is a

         12  different discussion for a different day.  But to

         13  change rules during the course of a campaign, once

         14  the campaign is under way, only guarantees that at

         15  the end of the campaign there are more lawyers

         16  hired, more accountants hired, and people

         17  frustrated, and frustrated to the point that they no

         18  longer want to participate in Campaign Finance.  I

         19  would submit that the level of people that are even

         20  applying this year, has diminished because of all of

         21  those factors.  But, you know, I would rather sit

         22  down with the Chair to go over the specific second

         23  egregious example that has been made at, given to me

         24  about Campaign Finance, changing the rules during

         25  the course of the campaigns, which would have a
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          2  significant pulse punitive impact on candidates.

          3                 MR. SCHWARZ: You know, Councilman

          4  Comrie, let me use the example that Nicole Gordon

          5  gave about the largest find in the history of the

          6  Campaign Finance Board, which was imposed on the

          7  immediately past Mayor, because of corporate

          8  contributions that ought to be aggregated.  Now that

          9  was done by a, in effect, adjudication in the middle

         10  of the campaign.  In that situation, if the board

         11  had been able to outline the factors that were going

         12  to control corporate contributions, it actually

         13  probably would have been helpful to that particular

         14  candidate to avoid what must have been embarrassing,

         15  as well as highly expensive lesson in failing to

         16  avoid, you know, common corporate contributions.  So

         17  sometimes, and this rule was designed, maybe we did

         18  not succeed, but this rule was designed to actually

         19  make it more transparent to candidates what kind of

         20  factors would be considered.  So that is why, I

         21  think, if you really focus on this specific rule and

         22  if it had that purpose, as I know was the purpose,

         23  maybe we did not execute it the best way, but that

         24  was the purpose  It seems to me it is far better for

         25  candidates to have laid out what the factors are in
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          2  advance, instead of applying them in effect

          3  adjudication that arises in the middle of a

          4  campaign.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But that just

          6  makes my point. Let us just clean it up now, so we

          7  do not have to adjudicate it later.  I am a non

          8  judicatory type person.  You know, I love lawyers,

          9  but I rather not spend the rest of my life with

         10  them, to deal with stuff that I think, especially

         11  could be dealt with up front.  I mean, that just

         12  clarifies, and actually that comment singularly just

         13  keeps my focus on getting this done, getting it out

         14  of the way so we can get to something else.

         15                 MR. SCHWARZ: But if I could just say

         16  something that I said I was not going to repeat.  I

         17  think there is a key missing element in the proposed

         18  solution, which would be important to address.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Sorry, but,

         20  you know, I appreciate your coming today and I

         21  appreciate your comments, I just, you know, we want

         22  Campaign Finance to be the best program in the

         23  country.  And in order for it to be the best program

         24  in the country, it has to be a program that people

         25  want to participate in. And I think that we are
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          2  starting to move away from that, because even those

          3  of us that are supporters, are winding up having to

          4  spend an inordinate amount of time just trying to

          5  navigate.  That takes away from the original

          6  mission, which was to open up the process for anyone

          7  to be a part of, so that they could have some

          8  enjoyment from the political process, some enjoyment

          9  from trying to get involved in politics and

         10  governance, and now it has become a situation where

         11  we all get gray hair from.  You know, because we

         12  wind up having to hire people, you wind having to

         13  deal with things post ex facto.  You wind up dealing

         14  with rule changes that you are not aware of because

         15  you are working shoe string, or you are working on

         16  governing and politicking at the same time.  But let

         17  us get to transparency so we can make it easier.

         18  And there are plenty of other things that we could

         19  be talking about with Campaign Finance.  I do not

         20  think this is something we necessarily have to hold

         21  on to.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me ask one

         23  final question and then we are going to go directly

         24  to our next panel.  I just want to alert folks that

         25  we unfortunately are on a time frame that requires
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          2  us to be out of here by 1:00 because there is a

          3  subsequent hearing going to take place.

          4                 But let me just ask with respect to

          5  the new rule. What are the penalties for, that one

          6  would suffer if this rule was applied?  How does the

          7  penalty structure start, you know, what is the

          8  penalty?

          9                 MS. GORDON: The penalty arises in the

         10  case that if two contributions, when aggregated

         11  together bring the amount over the contribution

         12  limit, then it is what we call an over the limit

         13  contribution and then it must be returned, the

         14  overage has to be returned and there are penalties,

         15  let me find out if somebody knows the -- the amounts

         16  are listed on the website.  It depends on the amount

         17  over the limit that the contribution is.  So in a

         18  case of a council campaign, for example, the

         19  contributions when added together, would have to be

         20  over $2 thousand seven hundred and fifty dollars,

         21  and then depending on how much over that amount they

         22  were, a recommended penalty according to, you know,

         23  you can check on the website what the exact amounts

         24  are, would be according to how much over the limit

         25  the contribution ends up being.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, if it is

          3  2750, if it is 2760, what is the penalty?

          4                 MR. SCHWARZ: Pretty small.  I can say

          5  that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, that

          7  depends.  See, that is what I want to understand.

          8  How do you determine what is the penalty?

          9                 MR. SCHWARZ: There is some guidance

         10  that is in some public document, and then the staff

         11  makes a recommendation, and the board may or may not

         12  accept that, but it is not a large amount.  We could

         13  send to you what the --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Please do.

         15                 MR. SCHWARZ: -- Document says.

         16                 MS. GORDON: But by the way, if you

         17  return the overage before it is found as part of the

         18  audit, there is no penalty at all.  So that if you

         19  go through the process of asking the question, you

         20  can avoid it totally if you come to a conclusion.

         21                 MR. SCHWARZ: Mr. Chairman, the staff

         22  will send to you what that target is, and as I said,

         23  the board then determines whether they agree with

         24  the target or not.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, thank you
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          2  so much.  I want to express my appreciation for your

          3  cooperation.  And just to say this, I find that in

          4  government, sometimes lawmakers make too many laws,

          5  just because of the opportunity to make them, and

          6  rule makers make too many rules, just because of the

          7  opportunity to make them.  We both have a tendency

          8  to just get carried away with the opportunity that

          9  our respective positions offer us, and I think there

         10  has to be a way to keep that in mind.  Because, you

         11  know, we get a kick out of being able to say we

         12  introduced the law and passed the law, you know,

         13  sometimes, you know, I am speaking for myself, Gale,

         14  and by the same token, but I am being frank, and by

         15  the same token, I think what we are finding

         16  sometimes on the other side, is that rules are being

         17  made just because it is like you want to fill up a

         18  book of rules that do not necessarily fulfill the

         19  ultimate purpose of what it is that is important.

         20  And so I think we need to see this from that

         21  perspective, as well.  Thank you.

         22                 MR. SCHWARZ: Okay, thank you Mr.

         23  Chairman and everybody else.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Because I know

         25  everybody in this committee, only makes laws that
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          2  make sense.

          3                 The next panel will be a panel that

          4  consists of UNITE and HERE, Maura Keaney, Shirley

          5  Cheeseboro, Joe Raiko, Luis Borrell.  In the

          6  interest of time, I would ask that you try to

          7  summarize your testimony so that we can have an

          8  opportunity, A, to have some dialog with you, some

          9  questions, and at the same time, provide an

         10  opportunity for the other panels to also make a

         11  presentation.  We have several other panels to

         12  follow.  And as I indicated earlier, we have a 1:00

         13  deadline.  Thank you.

         14                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Folks, do

         15  you swear or affirm that the testimony you are about

         16  to give this committee will be the truth, the whole

         17  truth and nothing but the truth?

         18                 MS. KEANEY: I do.

         19                 MR. RAIKO: I do.

         20                 MS. CHEESEBORO: I do.

         21                 MR. BORRELL: I do.

         22                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

         23  identify yourself before you summarize your

         24  testimony.

         25                 MS. KEANEY: Good morning, my name is
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          2  Maura Keaney and I am the Associate Political

          3  Director for the International Union, UNITE HERE.

          4  We represent some 500,000 active members throughout

          5  the U.S. And Canada, hundreds of different union

          6  locals. I would actually like to start my testimony

          7  by addressing the issue of terminology.  I

          8  understand the Mr. Schwarz and Ms. Gordon were

          9  probably not meaning to be dismissive in referring

         10  to unions and local unions as parent and child.  But

         11  frankly, it is offensive.  Our union members do

         12  back-breakingly hard work to raise their families,

         13  often in incredible difficult working conditions,

         14  and to refer to them or their local unions as

         15  children, is again, nothing less than offensive.  So

         16  I would ask that the Campaign Finance Board, if

         17  there is anyone left here from the board, listening

         18  to the testimony of the folks that will actually be

         19  affected by their rulings, that they instead use a

         20  more accurate description of that relationship, as

         21  the international union and its affiliated local

         22  unions.

         23                 Here in New York City, UNITE HERE

         24  represents about 50,000 active members in dozens of

         25  different industries, including industrial
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          2  laundries, hotels and hospitality, retail, apparel

          3  and textile, light manufacturing, distribution

          4  centers, direct care workers, gaming, airports, and

          5  restaurants.  Each of those industries has locals

          6  that represent workers in those industries.

          7                 As I am sure you can imagine, each of

          8  these locals representing different workers in

          9  different sectors, have different political agendas.

         10    You will hear today from union members who will

         11  talk a little bit about the type of work they do,

         12  the type of political agenda that their local or

         13  joint board does.

         14                 But I would like to address a

         15  particular issue that Mr. Schwarz said early on, in

         16  his testimony.  He said that the Campaign Finance

         17  Board believes that one decision maker should only

         18  have the right to make one contribution.  We could

         19  not agree more. Our local unions make decisions

         20  based on the input they get from their activist

         21  members on what kind of political agenda they are

         22  going to pursue, and how they are going to pursue

         23  it.  It is not something that is handed down on high

         24  from the international union.

         25                 I would like to introduce to you
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          2  today three members of UNITE HERE who will testify

          3  just a little bit about their local union, what they

          4  do, and what their political agenda is.

          5                 Joe Raiko, who is with the

          6  Metropolitan Joint Board. Shirley Cheeseboro, the

          7  President of the Laundry Workers Joint Board, and

          8  Luis Borrell who is a member of Local 6.  Joe?

          9                 MR. RAIKO: Good morning and thank you

         10  for inviting me to speak with you today.  My name is

         11  Joe Raiko and I am President of Local 10, The

         12  Cutters Union of UNITE HERE.  I am here today to

         13  urge you to continue to treat local unions as

         14  separate entities, especially in this time of

         15  merges.  Unions represent diverse industries and

         16  each local has its own identity.  For example, I am

         17  a cutter, but my union brothers and sisters from

         18  UNITE HERE do a variety of jobs.  Each of these

         19  industries, garment distribution, industrial

         20  laundries, hotels and restaurants, has different

         21  needs.  Those of us working in manufacturing for

         22  instance, advocate for issues such as maintaining

         23  zoning for our industry, increase procurement for

         24  New York's factories, and funding for the Garment

         25  Industry Development Corporation.
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          2                 Each of our local unions need the

          3  ability to fight for its members, and its

          4  industries, and these are different from one local

          5  union to the next.  In addition, the members and

          6  retirees of UNITE HERE, live in work all over the

          7  New York Metropolitan area.  Certain locals might

          8  choose to work on specific local campaigns, or local

          9  issues that benefit their members.  Each local union

         10  has its own funds and makes its own decisions about

         11  how to use them, and should be allowed to support

         12  the candidates that provide the best representation

         13  for its issues.

         14                 This change to the Campaign Fiance

         15  Rules will put a strangle hold on free speech, and

         16  damage our union's ability to protect good union

         17  jobs in our City.  That is why we urge you to pass

         18  Intro 564.  Thank you very much.

         19                 MS. CHEESEBORO: Good morning.  My

         20  name is Shirley Cheeseboro and I am the President of

         21  the Laundry Workers Joint Board.  I am here to speak

         22  on behalf of my members.  We believe in Campaign

         23  Finance and we contribute when it is time to

         24  contribute, because when we need help in getting our

         25  bosses to pay a pay increase when we do contract
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          2  negotiations, we come here for assistance with the

          3  councils.  When we need help in keeping the water

          4  bill from being passed out or going too high, we

          5  come here and we campaign.  So that we can keep our

          6  jobs.  If the water bill increases, the companies

          7  will close up, they will move away and we will lose

          8  jobs.  And right now we represent about 4,000

          9  laundry workers and that is a lot of people to be

         10  out of work.  So we are pushing to keep the Campaign

         11  Finance as neat as possible.  Thank you.

         12                 MR. BORRELL: Good morning, hi, my

         13  name is Luis Borrell.  I want to thank everybody in

         14  the council.  I am a waiter at the Plaza Hotel.

         15  Obviously, the Plaza has been saved.  On behalf of

         16  all the Plaza workers, thank you.  Obviously we all

         17  have different issues, our biggest issue was the

         18  hotel conversions.  And each union has different

         19  problems, so if possible, 561 (sic) would definitely

         20  benefit all unions.

         21                 MS. KEANEY: Thank you.  I would like

         22  to actually close by reminding the council that each

         23  of our locals has different political agendas.  We

         24  have actually had instances, I do not want to remind

         25  anyone which ones they were, where different locals
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          2  of UNITE HERE made competing endorsements for

          3  different candidates in the same race.  So for us to

          4  be considered a single source, would just be dead

          5  wrong, and it would also be harmful to the ability

          6  of our union members and our locals to advance their

          7  political agenda.  Thank you for the opportunity to

          8  testify today.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you for

         10  your testimony and your good work.  You know, the

         11  administration, well the Campaign Finance Board is

         12  operating under the impression, not simply that

         13  there is a parent child relationship, which is

         14  offensive as you pointed out, and I am glad, for the

         15  record, that you made that clear, and I will take

         16  the responsibility as the Chair to bring that to

         17  their attention, as well.

         18                 MS. KEANEY: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: But I also think

         20  that they are under some sort of understanding that

         21  the intricacies of the unions and their

         22  relationships known, are commonly known, to the

         23  people that you deal with in terms of candidacies,

         24  and I just wondered if you had some thoughts about

         25  that, that might be enlightening?
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          2                 MS. KEANEY: Sure.  Well, first of all

          3  UNITE actually merged with the Hotel and Restaurant

          4  Workers Union, HERE, just this past summer.  So we

          5  have only been together for about nine or ten months

          6  now.  And I get calls all the time from council

          7  members and other candidates, asking what our

          8  relationship is with Local 6 or Local 100, of the

          9  former HERE.  So obviously that is not clear,

         10  frankly, it is not always clear inside the union,

         11  either.  I would like to point out that each of

         12  these locals has a different process for how they

         13  consider endorsements.  Each of them obviously have

         14  different issues that they weigh.  And all of those

         15  locals engage their members on the ground when they

         16  make those endorsements.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: One of the

         18  things that I also notice sometimes is that, one

         19  local might endorse one candidate, another local

         20  might endorse another candidate, and the parent

         21  might endorse them both, or not endorse any, or

         22  whatever the case may be. Is that an unusual

         23  experience?

         24                 MS. KEANEY: It does not happen all

         25  the time, but it has definitely happened.  In a race
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          2  in Washington Heights several years ago, UNITE Local

          3  6232 endorsed Miguel Martinez, one of our local

          4  unions endorsed one of the other candidates, none of

          5  you please remind Miguel of that fact.  But yes,

          6  absolutely, we have, you know, our locals have

          7  members that live throughout the City and who have

          8  their own political relationships in their own

          9  communities.  The Laundry Workers Joint Board is

         10  very closely aligned to the Working Families Party

         11  and does a lot of work with them.  So we absolutely

         12  have instances where locals make endorsements for

         13  candidates that are actually competing against each

         14  other.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         16  much.  Thank you very much.

         17                 MS. KEANEY: Thank you and Happy

         18  Birthday, Mr. Chairman.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.

         20  Panel number two will be representees of DC 37,

         21  Marilyn Charles, John Land, Roydel Howe.

         22                 I want to express my appreciation to

         23  DC 37 for their patience.  I know that they

         24  indicated earlier that they were under the gun, in

         25  terms of commitments.  And I am sorry that we were a
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          2  little longer than we expected.

          3                      The next panel will be Teamsters

          4  Joint Council 16, after this panel.

          5                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Witnesses,

          6  do you swear or affirm that the testimony you are

          7  about to give this committee will be the truth, the

          8  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          9                 MS. CHARLES: I do.

         10                 MR. LAND: I do.

         11                 MR. HOWE: I do.

         12                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Very well,

         13  please identify yourself before you summarize your

         14  testimony.

         15                 MR. LAND: My name is John Land.  Good

         16  morning, good afternoon, actually.  I am an active

         17  member of Social Service Employees Union Local 371's

         18  Political Action Committee.  I am here today to

         19  voice my support of Intro 564.

         20                 The Campaign Finance Board is wrong

         21  in not considering individual local unions as

         22  different, from their international union, or

         23  district council, with regard to allocating

         24  political campaign contributions.  This is simply

         25  illogical. Anyone familiar with the labor movement
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          2  or how it functions, knows it is a fundamental

          3  premise of the labor union's philosophy and the

          4  independence of the local organization is vital.

          5  Local unions have their own constitution, elected

          6  officials, dues structure, and budget.  Local unions

          7  represent different work titles from other unions.

          8  Locals are free to make endorsements that are

          9  different than their district councils or

         10  international unions.  In fact, this happens

         11  frequently.  An institute in their rule, the CFB is

         12  over looking the diversity of the labor movement.

         13  It is important that all working men and women, have

         14  the ability to express their point of view through

         15  their local unions.  This is a fundamental right of

         16  every worker.  There is often disagreement between

         17  locals and their councils.  Political involvement

         18  through contributions and endorsements, is a

         19  fundamental way that locals separate themselves and

         20  their genders from their umbrella organizations.

         21                 Intro 564 would correct the imbalance

         22  set upon us by the CFB, by instituting four tests

         23  for determining whether two labor unions are single

         24  or separate.  If a local union,

         25                 Number one, makes contributions from
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          2  different accounts.

          3                 Number two, maintains separate

          4  accounts with different signatories.

          5                 Number three, does not share a

          6  majority of members of their governing boards.

          7                 And number four, does not share a

          8  majority of officers, then those locals can, and

          9  will be considered, as a separate entity from any

         10  council or international to which it may belong.

         11                 Intro 564 takes a more reasonable

         12  approach than the CFB to watch six discrepancies in

         13  the Campaign Finance Law.  In this bill, the council

         14  addresses the CFB's fundamental concern, that labor

         15  organizations do not skirt the contribution limits,

         16  by having two organizations under common control

         17  make maximum contributions.

         18                 However, Intro 64 (sic) sets out

         19  standards that will be clear to both candidates and

         20  unions, about which organizations will be considered

         21  separate, and which will not.  My union, Social

         22  Service Employee's Unions Local 374, 71, is known

         23  for its independence.  I do not want that

         24  independence to be diluted.

         25                 I urge the council to enact Intro 564
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          2  to ensure that labor organizations with different

          3  political agendas and interests, will be able to

          4  continue operating, and contributing separately to

          5  candidates for elected office.  Thank you for the

          6  opportunity to testify before you today.

          7                 MS. CHARLES: Good afternoon.  I would

          8  like to thank the Governmental Operations Committee

          9  for holding this hearing today.  I would also like

         10  to thank Council Members Comrie and DeBlasio for

         11  their leadership on Intro 564A.

         12                 My name is Marilyn Charles.  I am a

         13  member of District Council 37.  I am one of the many

         14  volunteers of my union's Political Action Committee.

         15    As you know, DC 37 is the largest municipal labor

         16  union in New York City, representing 121,000

         17  members.  We represent members in 1,000 titles in

         18  all City agencies.  We are the umbrella organization

         19  for 56 locals and Our Retiree's Association.  Each

         20  of our locals are independent and autonomous from

         21  us.  This is to say, that each has its own rules,

         22  bylaws, executive committee, offices, and

         23  constitutions which governs their internal

         24  operations.  As such, we serve as the umbrella

         25  organization on matters of political activities.
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          2  However, each local in accordance with their own

          3  internal operation, make their political decisions

          4  regarding contributions and endorsements, on their

          5  own.  These decisions are many times contrary to the

          6  decision DC 37 makes.  We believe that Intro 564A is

          7  a significant piece of legislation, which truly

          8  understands the operational mechanism of labor

          9  organizations.  It recognizes the independence of

         10  affiliated unions, it correctly recognizes that most

         11  unions are not single entities, and it understands

         12  the complexities of autonomy, but seeks to address

         13  the rights of the citizens of this City to have an

         14  expression of political choice, which will not be

         15  minimized or devalued, simply because the Campaign

         16  Finance Board has attempted to extend its authority

         17  to adopt the rule which seeks to selectively

         18  disenfranchise certain segments of the electorate.

         19  We urge your support for this important piece of

         20  legislation, which will give voice to those, some

         21  will like to silence.  Thank you for having me

         22  testify today.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Excellent, thank

         24  you so much.

         25                 MR. HOWE: Good afternoon.  My name is
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          2  Roydel Howe. I am a member of Local 1407 of DC 37.

          3                 I would like to begin by thanking

          4  Chairman Perkins and the members of the Governmental

          5  Operation Committee, for holding this hearing today.

          6

          7                 Local 1407 is one of 56 locals of DC

          8  37.  Our local represents the accountants, actuaries

          9  and statisticians in City government.  I am the

         10  Political Action Coordinator for my local. In this

         11  capacity, I work with the members of my local, and

         12  all activities involved in the local political

         13  involvement.

         14                 In this regard, I would like to

         15  express our support for Intro number 564A.  This

         16  bill will allow us to operate as we have, without

         17  any undue interference.

         18                 Our endorsement process is

         19  exclusively performed by our members.  We are a part

         20  of DC 37, but we are separate, distinct and

         21  independent of DC 37, and make our political

         22  decisions accordingly.

         23                 Our support of this legislation will

         24  allow us to continue to be who we are, without

         25  having to change the way we operate.
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          2                 We urge you to unanimously support

          3  this legislation.

          4                 In closing, I would like to thank you

          5  for the opportunity to appear before you today.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I just want to

          7  thank Mr. Howe, who is a resident or, did you move

          8  out of my district, Mr, Howe?

          9                 MR. HOWE: No, I am still living in

         10  your district.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Alright, thank

         12  you -- who is a constituent from my district and

         13  also a member of Local 1407, for coming by today.

         14  And I am not sure if you are in my district, but I

         15  see you all the time, Ms. Charles, so I am going to

         16  claim you also.  But I want to thank the panel for

         17  coming today and re affirming what we are trying to

         18  do here in the council.  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 Now we will hear from our next panel,

         22  Teamsters John Palumbo, Michael O'Toole, John Bovey

         23  and William Reardon of Local 807.  This panel will

         24  be followed by Public Safety panel.

         25                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Gentlemen,
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          2  do you swear or affirm that the testimony you are

          3  about to give this committee will be the truth, the

          4  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          5                 MR. PALUMBO: I do.

          6                 MR. O'TOOLE: I do.

          7                 MR. BOVEY: I do.

          8                 MR. REARDON: I do.

          9                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Very well,

         10  please identify yourself before you summarize your

         11  testimony.

         12                 MR. PALUMBO: Good morning.  John

         13  Palumbo, I am a Political Project Organizer for the

         14  International Brotherhood of Teamsters.  I represent

         15  Joint Council 16 with 120,000 members, 36 distinct

         16  and diverse locals and they all operate separately.

         17  And I just come today to say that the Joint Council

         18  is similar to the City Council, in as much you all

         19  represent people from New York, but your own little

         20  district is more important.  And that is the way the

         21  Joint Council is.  We represent all the people in

         22  the Joint Council, but each local and each member

         23  has their own particular agenda.

         24                 I brought along with me today, three

         25  rank and file members that are politically active,
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          2  but at the same time, they are on the job every day.

          3

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So in other

          5  words, just because the speaker says he is for or

          6  against something, does not mean that we are

          7  automatically for or against it.

          8                 MR. PALUMBO: Well, you know how it

          9  works.  And yes, we would like to say that we are

         10  100 percent together and in certain issues we are

         11  probably are, but we all have our own rights and our

         12  own minds, and the locals, I have two local leaders

         13  with me also, but in the course of time, we wanted

         14  to keep it short.  And I am going to turn it over

         15  now to Michael O'Toole, because I want you to hear

         16  from the rank and file, unless you have questions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: If there are any

         18  other comments to be made, by all means, do not

         19  hesitate.  Whoever is next.

         20                 MR. O'TOOLE: My name is Michael

         21  O'Toole.  I am from Local 282.  We are the Building

         22  Material Local in New York City, you know, your

         23  cement mixers, et cetera.  I am also the Chair of

         24  our Political Action Committee, okay?  I was curious

         25  to know why the, I do not know the procedures here,
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          2  but I am curious to know why the Campaign Finance

          3  Board is not here listening to everyone else?  You

          4  know, I take exception with that personally.

          5  Because I would like to ask them a couple of

          6  questions also, which I guess I cannot do now that

          7  they are gone.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, let me say

          9  this.  You can raise the questions in your testimony

         10  which will be very, very valuable, and those

         11  questions, we can also communicate to them in follow

         12  up letters that we will send them, and I should also

         13  point out that they will have access to your

         14  testimony, and will decide whether or not they want

         15  to actually respond to it.  So, but I think it is

         16  important that you raise those questions anyway, for

         17  the record.

         18                 MR. O'TOOLE: Okay.  I also had a

         19  question, I believe it was Councilman Addabbo

         20  raised, about, you know, who initiated this rule in

         21  the first place?  And I will be a little facetious

         22  and say, was it from the parent?  Because I also

         23  took exception as the UNITE rep made, about calling

         24  parent and children.  We are not children.  We are

         25  all autonomous, we have our own executive boards.
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          2  The executive boards do not answer to the

          3  international, nor the Joint Council.  We all make

          4  our own decisions.  My brothers sitting right next

          5  to me here from different Teamster locals, have

          6  their own issues and needs, and as previous union

          7  members have stated, many times we are on different

          8  sides of the fence, whether it be a candidate or a

          9  particular issue.

         10                 I would also like to point out a very

         11  large example of autonomy was City employees.  If I

         12  am sure everyone remembers in the Presidential

         13  election, how the New York City Uniformed Fire

         14  Fighters Association endorsed President Bush.  If

         15  that is not autonomy, I do not know what is.

         16  Whether you agree with it or not, that certainly was

         17  an individual decision.

         18                 I am re- iterating a lot of points

         19  that previous members already made, so I do not want

         20  to belabor the points.  So I just thank you for the

         21  time to speak in front of you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         23  much.  Just for the record, I appreciate your

         24  conciseness and the fact that you agree with much of

         25  that which has already been said.  If it is within
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          2  the time frame that we asked you to provide, that we

          3  provide for your testimony, do not hesitate to

          4  reiterate it.  Because objective, part of the

          5  objective here is to get as much on the record, one

          6  way or the other as possible, and in your case.

          7  Obviously you wanted to be said time and time again,

          8  your position with regard to the legislation.  So,

          9  you do not have to say it again, I am just saying

         10  for the others who are up to testifying, those in

         11  the waiting, do not hesitate to say what is on your

         12  mind. Thank you.  Next?

         13                 MR. VONKOMARNICKI: Good afternoon,

         14  Mr. Chairman and other members who are left here.

         15  My name is Roman Vonkomarnicki. I represent Local

         16  807 of the Teamsters of the Trade Show Division. I

         17  urge the council members to support Bill 564 before

         18  us.  However, I am against the CFB rule, which would

         19  deny the various locals to support our candidates

         20  who in turn favored the labor movement.  The idea

         21  that the national unduly influences the locals in

         22  district council is incorrect.  The relationship

         23  between the international and local unions, they set

         24  the guidelines by which we must abide. The

         25  international does not control the district council
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          2  or local of unions as to which candidate we support.

          3    One clear indication was this past national

          4  election.  Some of the locals supported Bush, and

          5  other locals supported Kerry.  On a closer note,

          6  note to home, the Joint Council supported Mr. Green

          7  and some of us in Local 807 and myself, supported

          8  Mike Bloomberg.  The Joint Council 16 has 36 locals

          9  under their wings, however the locals support the

         10  candidates who support labor and like the sign above

         11  us, in these chambers states, A government of the

         12  people, by the people, for the people, which was

         13  Lincoln, that is right above us.

         14                 Everyone in this room has the freedom

         15  of choice for their candidates.  So in essence, the

         16  CFB rule would deny the various locals to support

         17  their candidates separately.  So I urge the council

         18  members to support Bill 564 before us, but not the

         19  CFB rule.  And I thank you in advance for your

         20  support.  Thank you, Mr. Perkins.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Next?

         22                 MR. REARDON: Yes, my name is William

         23  Reardon and I am a member of Local 807 Teamsters.

         24  The Teamsters are in favor of Bill 564, but we are

         25  against the CFB rule.  Our affiliation to the
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          2  international or Joint Council does not have an

          3  effect on who we donate campaign funds.  We are all

          4  separate, operate separately. The Teamsters,

          5  different Teamster locals, they do freight,

          6  construction, sanitation, and they do not always

          7  agree on which candidates to support.  We do not

          8  feel we should be held to rule which limits our

          9  contributions and possibly borders on violating our

         10  rights to back a candidate, who backs our wants and

         11  needs for our members and for the City.  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.

         13  That is an excellent testimony from all of you.  I

         14  want to ask you, have you in the past had at any

         15  point in time, been required by the Campaign Finance

         16  Board, either your local or your union, to return

         17  any money or any -- you know, they claim that in the

         18  past, they have had instances, where they have

         19  identified this sort of conflict of interest, in

         20  which the so called parent company and the so called

         21  local, were like one in the same.  Do you know, in

         22  terms of your own experience or any other union

         23  experience, where that type of arrangement was in

         24  effect, and that it violated the rules that the

         25  Campaign Finance Board claims that it already has?
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          2                 MR. PALUMBO: Not to my knowledge have

          3  we ever had that situation, because we have never

          4  run across this rule before, that they are trying to

          5  enforce.  And one other point I would like to make

          6  is, as a past representor of members in arbitrations

          7  and all, what they are doing in fact is, with this

          8  law, is creating a situation where guys might be

          9  guilty of something that was not law at the time

         10  they did it.  And I find that very offensive.

         11  Because how do you, how do you defend a situation

         12  that was not there when you did it?  What makes it a

         13  breaking of the law?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, I think

         15  the very good point that was to some extent raised

         16  by Council Member DeBlasio, when he pointed out that

         17  the law, or the rule is in effect for this election

         18  season.  But in fact, the contributions have already

         19  been, some contributions have already been

         20  collected, and so now someone may be guilty of a

         21  collection that was at one point okay, but now is

         22  not okay, and therefore is guilty of a crime that

         23  was not a crime at the time that the contribution

         24  was made.  So you are right.  And I think it is a

         25  very important point that Council Member Comrie also
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          2  underscored, and is clear that there has been some

          3  rush to promulgate this rule, that even if it had

          4  merit, would seem more appropriate in a future

          5  election season, as opposed to this election season

          6  that is already under way.

          7                 So thank you so much for your

          8  observations and your testimony and we appreciate

          9  the fact that you have come.  Continue the good

         10  work.  Thank you.

         11                 MR. PALUMBO: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Panel four,

         13  Public Safety, Paul Bahnken, President of Uniformed

         14  EMT and Paramedics FDNY, Dave Rosenzweig, President

         15  Uniformed Fire Alarm Dispatch Benevolent

         16  Association, Tom Eppinger, President, Uniformed EMS

         17  Officers Union, Joe Colangelo, President SEIU Local

         18  246 Auto Mechanic Union, Steve Pezenik, Local 338,

         19  and Kirk Swanson, RWDSU, in the house.

         20                 If you could all raise your hand and

         21  you will be sworn in.  Let me do this, put your hand

         22  down for a second.  Kirk and Steve, Steve Pezenik

         23  and Kirk Swanson, do you want, you can either be a

         24  part of this panel or you can have a separate panel?

         25  Separate panel?  Great. Okay, because your names
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          2  were put in on this panel, but panel four then, at

          3  the table, please raise your hands.

          4                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Do you

          5  swear or affirm that the testimony that you will

          6  give this committee will be the truth, the whole

          7  truth and nothing but the truth?

          8                 MR. BAHNKEN: I do.

          9                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: I do.

         10                 MR. EPPINGER: I do.

         11                 MR. COLANGELO: I do.

         12                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Very well.

         13  Please identify yourselves prior to summarizing your

         14  testimony.

         15                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: Good afternoon.  I am

         16  Dave Rosenzweig, President of the Uniformed Fire

         17  Alarm Dispatchers Benevolent Association.  I would

         18  like to thank you first for allowing us to testify

         19  here today, and we appreciate the opportunity.

         20                 As it was announced, we said we are

         21  the Public Safety Coalition.  This is a very unique

         22  group.  Basically, we spend all of our time

         23  representing members that do very important work for

         24  the citizens of New York.  We try to provide them

         25  with the public safety that they need.  We have EMS
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          2  here, Fire, and Joe Colangelo who we send the fire

          3  engines if his people do not work, and repair the

          4  equipment properly, if you do not get any equipment

          5  at all.  So this is a quite unique group.  The other

          6  thing that is so unique about this group in regard

          7  to the Intro 564A, which we are in favor of, is that

          8  there is approximately, we represent approximately

          9  5,000 members, and out of the 5,000 members, only

         10  200 members, which are my members, I will be able to

         11  designate, because I am an unaffiliated union.  The

         12  rest of the people that are here sitting at the

         13  table, if the Finance Control (sic.) Board, actually

         14  implements, okay, the unfair control, or the

         15  unnecessary control that they are trying to do, they

         16  will not have the opportunity to do what they have

         17  done in the past and need to do continuously,

         18  because of the diverse job descriptions that they

         19  represent.

         20                 So you can see just by looking at

         21  that example, 5,000 members and only 200 people that

         22  I represent, will have the opportunity to contribute

         23  the way that they want.  It seems totally unfair.

         24  And I would like to turn it over to Pat Bahnken now.

         25    I believe he has a prepared statement.
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          2                 MR. BAHNKEN: Good afternoon, Mr.

          3  Perkins, Mr. Comrie.  My name is Patrick Bahnken.  I

          4  am the president of the Uniformed EMT's and

          5  Paramedics- New York City Fire Department, and we

          6  are here today to support Intro 564A.  Recent

          7  changes in regulations under the Campaign Finance

          8  Law, now make it illegal for my rank and file

          9  members to exercise our right to participate in the

         10  democratic process.  Simply because our union is

         11  part of a larger organization, we are now prohibited

         12  from supporting candidates, if another affiliate or

         13  a parent organization has already made a

         14  contribution to a specific candidate.

         15                 Although my local is affiliated to

         16  District Council 37 of the American Federation of

         17  State County and Municipal Employees, my local has

         18  its own constitution, its own executive board, and

         19  most importantly, its own voice.

         20                 Reference was made earlier by Council

         21  Member DeBlasio that District Council 37 unions are

         22  prohibited from endorsing candidates prior to the

         23  District Council.  However, it has been my

         24  experience in the past, that in order to depart from

         25  that rule, or that guide, that all union president
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          2  need do, is inform the council that they are going

          3  to move in a different direction or they are going

          4  to move earlier.

          5                 But this bill, or this regulation I

          6  should say, does nothing more than try to silence

          7  unions.  And why not try to silence us?  After all,

          8  we are always complaining about things like,

          9  liveable wages, affordable health care, affordable

         10  housing. Certainly, there is no reason to do that.

         11  I mean, we want to stamp that out.  There would

         12  probably be plenty of affordable housing if it were

         13  not for the unions complaining that there is not

         14  enough. There would probably be plenty of affordable

         15  health care if it were not for the unions

         16  complaining that there is not enough.

         17                 I can assure you of one thing.  The

         18  labor movement was fought for a long time for

         19  hundreds of years, to have the right to exercise our

         20  freedom to speak as a group.  Not as part of a

         21  larger group, but as individual groups with unique

         22  needs and unique desires.  We have our own voice,

         23  and we plan on exercising it.

         24                 To give you an idea of how passionate

         25  my rank and file members are about this right to
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          2  exercise our voice, each individual member voted to

          3  allocate approximately $2 hundred dollars per year

          4  of their wages above any due structure anywhere else

          5  in the council, just so that we can participate in

          6  the electoral process.  They did that freely, and it

          7  passed unanimously.

          8                 Long ago there was a trade group, or

          9  a group of workers called the Molly Maguires.  They

         10  had a very specific way of dealing with people who

         11  tried to silence the voice of organized labor.  And

         12  certainly their methods were barbaric.  But they did

         13  get results.  And people have tried to silence the

         14  voice of organized labor, came to realize that it

         15  was not only folly, but perilous to do so.

         16                 Now, I heard earlier that the

         17  Campaign Finance Board said that, if the candidate

         18  were to send a letter over to their supporters, now

         19  I want you to think about that proposal.  What that

         20  implies is that, if I choose to support Council

         21  Member Comrie, or Council Member Perkins, that you

         22  then, me being your supporter, you have to tell me

         23  that I have to prove to you, that I am not some

         24  puppet of a larger organization.  That I am not some

         25  sort of lemming or Stepford Union President who
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          2  marches locks step, to whatever the orders are from

          3  those people above me.  Well I can tell you, we have

          4  all been friends for a lot of years, and I would not

          5  consider that the act of anybody who wanted my

          6  support.  But what the CFB has told you is, go ahead

          7  and insult your friends and then maybe we will lift

          8  this rule.

          9                 Like one of the other speakers said

         10  before, I would like to see somebody from the

         11  Campaign Finance Board raise their hand here.  There

         12  is one here.  There is a whole batch of people here

         13  earlier who make these decisions, who did not seem

         14  to care enough to stick around to find out how it

         15  would impact us, or what our beliefs were.  I can

         16  tell you that one decision maker, as the Executive

         17  Director of the CFB said, one decision maker should

         18  make one contribution.  My parent union cannot order

         19  to me to make a contribution.  They cannot order me

         20  not to make a contribution or not to make an

         21  endorsement.  So I do not see how lumping me in with

         22  everybody, where I should have to justify why I want

         23  to exercise my right to participate in the

         24  democratic process.

         25                 I thank you for the opportunity to
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          2  testify here today and will answer any questions

          3  that you have.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: What was the

          5  Molly, I am afraid to ask because I think I remember

          6  the Molly Maguire, but can you just elucidate that

          7  for me just in case?

          8                 MR. BAHNKEN: It had to do with coal

          9  miners and if you remember the days of the company

         10  stores, and how everything was provided at the will

         11  of the company owners, and if you tried to speak out

         12  as a group, people got killed, people got their

         13  skulls crushed, and the Molly Maguire's decided they

         14  were not going to have it one way, that we were

         15  going to fight back.  And organized labor will fight

         16  back.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I remember now,

         18  the Grapes of Wrath.  Henry Fonda, a great movie.

         19  Yes.

         20                 MR. COLANGELO: Hi.  My name is Joe

         21  Colangelo.  I am the President of Local 246.  We

         22  represent the Auto Trades.  First off, I would like

         23  to thank you for having this opportunity to speak.

         24  And on the issue of labor organizations and the

         25  international or parent organization, if you like to
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          2  say that term, which I do not,  the Service

          3  Employees International is made up of four distinct

          4  divisions.  There is a public sector division, a

          5  private sector, there is a health division and out

          6  of those four, and the other division is building

          7  trades, no building services. Now out of those four

          8  divisions, each division has their own wants and

          9  needs for their particular membership, and to lump

         10  everybody into one particular group, and have one

         11  goal, is sort of insulting, and that is why unions

         12  have locals.  Because locals, even though they

         13  belong to one huge organization, they represent

         14  different entities.  Mine, I have 1550 members.  I

         15  have over 19 different titles  So my members want

         16  something different than the Building Services

         17  Division or Health Services Division.  So therefore,

         18  to have a situation set up where we would not be

         19  able to contribute to politicians, or participate in

         20  the process that would benefit our members on behalf

         21  of maybe the international, which they would have a

         22  different point of view, is number one, insulting to

         23  our members and would be a burdensome in a sense.

         24  And just I would like to use this analogy, when you

         25  said about enacting into legislation in the season
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          2  of, this political season, I use it in the back and

          3  I thought it would be pretty good is that, that

          4  would be like if there was an No Parking sign put up

          5  in front of your house today, and you were given

          6  tickets for the last six years, because you have

          7  been parking there, and there should have been, and

          8  there was a No Parking sign installed today.  So, I

          9  leave you with that comment.

         10                 MR. EPPINGER: My name is Tom

         11  Eppinger.  I am the President of Uniformed EMS

         12  Officers Union, and we are in favor of this bill.

         13  And just one example why is, we fought to get our

         14  own collective bargaining certificate, because our

         15  needs are quite unique to those of all the groups

         16  together in DC 37.  So that we recognize we have

         17  issues that are different to us, and unique to us,

         18  that we need to move forward on.  And that is why we

         19  are in favor of it.  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me, first

         21  thank you all again for your testimony, and the work

         22  you do on behalf of the City, and your appreciation

         23  of what we are trying to do to guarantee that your

         24  rights to have a voice in the political process

         25  through your contributions, is guaranteed.
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          2                 Let me just ask a question I have

          3  asked others. Have any of you or anyone that you

          4  know, ever experienced the Campaign Finance Board

          5  contacting you or your parent organization so to

          6  speak, about a contribution that was not

          7  appropriate, as it is being considered by the rule

          8  that the Campaign Finance Board has just put up?

          9  Has any of you encountered that kind of experience?

         10                 MR. ROSENZWEIG Speaking for the Fire

         11  Alarm Dispatchers, no.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Anyone?

         13                 MR. BAHNKEN: No, never.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Do you have any

         15  idea where this is coming from?  Do you have any

         16  idea of where this rule, what is the basis for this

         17  rule?  Do you know?  Any evidence that you, or any

         18  rumors, or any kind of problems that you have heard

         19  of?

         20                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: I think it is an

         21  attempt on control of the entire situation and just

         22  to limit the amount of contributions and to focus it

         23  and target it to where they would like it to go.

         24                 MR. BAHNKEN: I think that one thing

         25  that was clearly established in the testimony by the
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          2  CFB was that they do not know where this rule came

          3  from.  I mean I heard a lot of conjecture, I heard

          4  some anecdotal trash, but nobody has come to me and

          5  shown me or even asked me what I thought, or any of

          6  the union presidents or any of the labor members

          7  that I know, what we thought about this, what are

          8  feelings were, if there was a better way.  This

          9  decision was made in a vacuum.

         10                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: It is just a simple

         11  inequity. Certain groups will have the opportunity

         12  to go as they want, like my group with 200 people

         13  and other groups that have thousands and thousands

         14  of members, will not even have the opportunity to

         15  say if they have their way.  So, it is really an

         16  inequity.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.  Thank you

         18  very much and appreciate your testimony.  We will

         19  continue in dialog with you.

         20                 Last but not least by any means

         21  whatsoever, Kirk Swanson, the Political Director of

         22  RWDSU and Steve Pezenik for John Durso of RWDSU,

         23  excuse me, Local 338.

         24                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Gentlemen,

         25  to you swear or affirm that the testimony that you
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          2  are about to give this committee will be the truth,

          3  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          4                 MR. SWANSON: I do.

          5                 MR. PEZENIK: I do.

          6                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Very well,

          7  please identify yourself before you summarize your

          8  testimony.

          9                 MR. PEZENIK: I am Steve Pezenik.  I

         10  am the Director of Special Projects for Local 338,

         11  Retail, Wholesale, Department Store Union, United

         12  Food and Commercial Workers, and I am here

         13  representing John R. Durso, President.  And in the

         14  interest of time, I will skip to the last page.  Our

         15  union fully supports the City Council's efforts to

         16  correct the inequity of our Campaign Finance Law,

         17  Initiative Number 564- A will make an already

         18  unbalanced situation a bit fairer, by allowing

         19  organized labor its full voice in the political

         20  process.  Thank you.

         21                 MR. SWANSON: That was one of the

         22  children speaking. I want to go on record as also

         23  being with those who thought it was offensive

         24  language.  It shows a clear disregard and ignorance

         25  of the labor movement.
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          2                 Good afternoon, Chairman Perkins and

          3  the members of the Governmental Operations Committee

          4  of New York City Council.  My name is Kirk Swanson,

          5  Political Director of the Retail Wholesale and

          6  Department Store Union, and I am here testifying on

          7  behalf of President Stuart Appelbaum.

          8                 The RWDSU represents approximately

          9  100,000 workers in both the United States and

         10  Canada, with more than 40,000 members living and

         11  working in the New York Metropolitan area.  The

         12  RWDSU strongly supports Intro 564 and we urge the

         13  council to pass it into law.

         14                 There are seven RWDSU locals that

         15  represent a diverse membership of different

         16  interests and leadership working in a diverse set of

         17  interest, industries.  Applying restrictions which

         18  the Campaign Finance Board has imperiously

         19  implemented, that prohibit any of our local unions

         20  from contributing beyond an umbrella wide specified

         21  amount to some franchises, each and every member of

         22  that local unions membership.

         23                 To assume that every local marches in

         24  lock step with its international body, baldly

         25  eliminates the CFB stark and willful ignorance of a
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          2  labor movement.  They do not get it, and they do not

          3  care to.

          4                 This disregard speaks to a larger

          5  even more disturbing issue.  There is an all out

          6  right wing assault on the American labor movement.

          7  The irony that is being carried out in New York City

          8  by the CFB, which was founded to remedy the

          9  disproportionate influence of wealthy contributors,

         10  should not be lost by anyone in this room.

         11                 Lest we feel that unions wield

         12  disproportionate influence, how is it that the

         13  corporate share of tax revenues in the 1960's, 24

         14  percent, has fallen to less than eight percent

         15  today?  Something tells me the working men and

         16  women, who pay sales taxes, property taxes, social

         17  security taxes, fees and every other aggressive tax

         18  you can think of, have been left holding the bag.

         19  And yet the CFB has the gall to further

         20  disenfranchise working people, by attacking their

         21  only recourse to political involvement, their local

         22  union's ability to contribute on their behalf.

         23                 The Campaign Finance Act in 1988 and

         24  the subsequent changes to the CFB, were on an

         25  audacious effort on behalf of electoral sanity and
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          2  fairness.  What New York City's reform is also

          3  understood, was that unions represented those who

          4  could not participate in the system.  Working men

          5  and women without the disposable income to take part

          6  in a system, overwhelmingly rigged in favor of the

          7  wealthy.  For example, 95 percent of congressional

          8  campaign contributors giving $200 dollars or more

          9  are white, and 81 percent have incomes of $100

         10  thousand dollars or more a year.

         11                 Furthermore, every 100 people who

         12  contribute money in a wealthier community, only one

         13  person contributes from a community of color.  To

         14  add insult to injury, in 1980 the average pay of a

         15  CEO was approximately 40 times the corporation's

         16  lowest paid worker.  Today that ratio stands at 500

         17  to one.

         18                 We represent workers we are of, by,

         19  and for workers, and we are the leading force, us

         20  and the rest of the labor movement, battling against

         21  these offensive and harmful income and

         22  representational disparities.  And here goes a multi

         23  billionaire Mayor, and an anti worker CFB,

         24  unilaterally deciding that workers deserve less

         25  representation than wealthy, largely white, and male
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          2  corporate elites.

          3                 You also will not catch me saying

          4  that the Federal limits on union contributions are a

          5  good thing.  In fact, we think those limits are an

          6  affront to working families who are essentially

          7  being told they have not the right to participate,

          8  because they have not the means.  The labor movement

          9  is their means. Through these Federal limits, their

         10  right to collectively bargain to seek representation

         11  through numbers and solidarity, is abridged and

         12  downright insulted.  Any citation of Federal limits

         13  regarding the case before us, does not serve any

         14  justification for the CFB's new wrong headed policy.

         15    Two wrongs do not make a right.

         16                 And speaking of wrong, someone please

         17  tell me how the CFB, an instrument of a Mayor who

         18  happens to be a multi billionaire, has the audacity

         19  to say it is alright for him to spend $75 million

         20  dollars on his own election, but it is not alright

         21  for the brothers and sisters of your local union, to

         22  collectively spend a few thousand dollars on a race

         23  that might just affect their family's livelihood.

         24  Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I thank you
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          2  very, very much for your testimony.  It was right on

          3  time in terms of what is at stake here.  Which is

          4  the opportunity of working people to affectively

          5  have a voice in the political process, particularly

          6  through their unions, and particularly through what

          7  is a time honored structure in our democracy, which

          8  is unions.  And the collective way that workers have

          9  to have a voice, not simply about their contracts

         10  and about their working conditions, but more

         11  importantly, about their democracy and opportunity

         12  to contribute in terms of a Campaign Finance Program

         13  in that regard, is very fundamental.  And clearly we

         14  are supportive of guaranteeing that in removing any

         15  obstacles that either the Campaign Finance Board or

         16  anyone else for that matter, puts in its way.

         17                 Just as I have asked others, have you

         18  encountered or know of instances, in which the

         19  Campaign Finance Board has cited unions or locals

         20  for being in conflict with the Campaign Finance

         21  Board rules, that would bring about the kind of rule

         22  that we are presently discussing today?

         23                 MR. SWANSON: Not to my knowledge, no.

         24                 MR. PEZENIK: Nor mine.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And in the past
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          2  you have given, one way or another, in terms of your

          3  union or your local or whatever, I assume?

          4                 MR. SWANSON: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And in doing so,

          6  you have not been cited for any violation that this

          7  rule is talking about?

          8                 MR. PEZENIK: No Sir.

          9                 MR. SWANSON: To the best of my

         10  knowledge, no.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And so therefore

         12  there is no reason that you can understand for why

         13  the rule has come about?

         14                 MR. PEZENIK: Absolutely not.

         15                 MR. SWANSON: Well, I, in my

         16  testimony, my reason is that you see a willful

         17  ignorance and disdain for the labor movement on the

         18  part of the CFB.  I think they see in general, that

         19  well if a corporation cannot contribute, then why

         20  should labor unions have this ability for the locals

         21  and umbrella organizations to contribute?  And

         22  again, it just shows that they do not understand the

         23  labor movement and that they view what I feel the

         24  fundamental rights of working people with disdain.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you so
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          2  much for your testimony, and we will continue to be

          3  in dialog with you as we move forward with regard to

          4  the legislation and the rule that the Campaign

          5  Finance Board has put before us.  Thank you again,

          6  see you down the way.

          7                 MR. SWANSON: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want to at

          9  this point make one final call for a Mr. Kenny

         10  Kramer of Kramer for Mayor.  Kenny Kramer, I believe

         11  has left, and so with that in mind, let me just say

         12  that this hearing on Intro Number 564A, regarding

         13  single source contributions, heard before the

         14  Committee on Governmental Operations Chaired by

         15  yours truly, Council Member Bill Perkins, is

         16  officially closed.  Thank you so much.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 12:45 p.m.)
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